
1 
 

CITY OF OWOSSO 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

MONDAY, AUGUST 03, 2015 
7:30 P.M. 

 
Meeting to be held at City Hall 

301 West Main Street 
 

AGENDA 
 
OPENING PRAYER: 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
ROLL CALL: 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA: 
APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OF JULY 20, 2015: 
 

ADDRESSING THE CITY COUNCIL 
 

1. Your comments shall be made during times set aside for that purpose. 
2. Stand or raise a hand to indicate that you wish to speak. 
3. When recognized, give your name and address and direct your comments and/or questions to any 

City official in attendance. 
4. Each person wishing to address the City Council and/or attending officials shall be afforded one 

opportunity of up to four (4) minutes duration during the first occasion for citizen comments and 
questions.  Each person shall also be afforded one opportunity of up to three (3) minutes duration 
during the last occasion provided for citizen comments and questions and one opportunity of up to 
three (3) minutes duration during each public hearing.  Comments made during public hearings shall 
be relevant to the subject for which the public hearings are held. 

5. In addition to the opportunities described above, a citizen may respond to questions posed to him or 
her by the Mayor or members of the Council, provided members have been granted the floor to pose 
such questions. 

 

PROCLAMATIONS / SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
 
1. Proclamation - Martha Stinson.  A Mayoral Proclamation recognizing Building Department Executive 

Secretary Martha Stinson for her years of service to the City of Owosso on the occasion of her 
retirement. 

 
2. Adams Park Project Update.  An update on the status of the Adams Park Project from Eagle Scout 

candidate Zak Matousek. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
None. 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS 
 

CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 
Project Status Report 
 

AKKirkland
Sticky Note
This item will be distributed at the meeting.



2 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
1. First Reading & Set a Public Hearing - Numbering of Buildings Ordinance Amendment.  Conduct first 

reading and set a public hearing for Monday, August 17, 2015 to receive citizen comment regarding 
the proposed ordinance amendment to Chapter 8, Buildings and Building Regulations, Article IX, 
Numbering of Buildings, to bring the Code into compliance with the International Property 
Maintenance Code (2009). 
 

2. First Reading & Set Public Hearing – Rezoning Corunna Avenue.  Conduct first reading and set a 
public hearing for Monday, August 17, 2015 to receive citizen comment regarding the proposal to 
rezone several properties on Corunna Avenue to reduce spot zoning and bring the land use in line 
with the 2012 Master Plan. 
 

3. Minutes Correction – Refuse Collection Ordinance Amendment.  Approve correction to the May 4, 
2015 minutes to reflect the fact that no citizen comments were received prior to or during the meeting 
in regard to the public hearing for amendment of the Refuse Collection ordinance. 

 
4. Boards & Commissions Appointment.  Approve the Mayoral appointment of Jonathan Tamayo as a 

City of Owosso representative to the SATA Board of Directors, filling the unexpired term of Sean Grey 
ending October 1, 2016. 

 
5. ADA-Compliant Voting Booth Grant Agreement.  Authorize grant agreement with the Michigan 

Department of State for VOTE Program funds to reimburse the purchase cost of six ADA-compliant 
voting booths, further authorize payment to vendor Election Source upon satisfactory receipt of the 
booths, and approve payment of shipping charges from the Elections line item. 

  

ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
1. MML Delegate.  Designate a City Representative and Alternate to cast vote of municipality at the 

Michigan Municipal League annual business meeting on September 17, 2015. 
 

2. MEDC Redevelopment Ready Communities Program.  Commit to participating in the Michigan 
Economic Development Corporation’s Redevelopment Ready Communities Program (RRC). 
 

3. Bid Award – Westown Parking Lot Construction.  Approve bid award and authorize contract with 
Sumbera Excavating, Inc. for the installation of curb, gutter, and concrete parking surface for the new 
parking lot on South Lansing Street in the amount of $40,429.68 and further authorize payment up to 
the contract amount upon satisfactory completion of the work or portion thereof. 

 
4. Property Sale – South 20’ of 415 Bradley Street – Twenty-One Day Posting.  Authorize twenty-one 

(21) day posting period for sale of the south 20’ of the city owned parcel located at 415 Bradley Street 
to Elaine Greenway for $4,710.00. 

 
5. Property Lease – North 46’ of 415 Bradley Street – Twenty-One Day Posting.  Authorize twenty-one 

(21) day posting period for lease of the north 46’ of the city owned parcel located at 415 Bradley 
Street to Elaine Greenway on a month to month basis in exchange for routine property maintenance. 

 
6. Osburn Lakes Master Documents Modifications.  Discuss making modifications to the Osburn Lakes 

Master Deed and Condominium Bylaws to facilitate the sale of the remaining vacant lots. 
 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 
1. Michigan Liquor Control Commission.  Notice of transfer of liquor license – Korner Pub. 
2. Downtown Development Authority/Main Street.  Minutes of July 1, 2015. 
3. Downtown Historic District Commission.  Minutes of July 15, 2015. 
4. Zoning Board of Appeals.  Minutes of July 21, 2015. 



3 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS 
 

NEXT MEETING 
 
Monday, August 17, 2015 
 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS OPENINGS 
 
Historical Commission, term expires December 31, 2017 
Planning Commission (2), both terms expire June 30, 2016 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
The City of Owosso will provide necessary reasonable auxiliary aids and services, such as signers for the 
hearing impaired and audio tapes of printed materials being considered at the meeting, to individuals with 
disabilities at the meeting/hearing upon seventy-two (72) hours notice to the City of Owosso.  Individuals 
with disabilities requiring auxiliary aids or services should contact the City of Owosso by writing or calling 
the following:  Amy K. Kirkland, City Clerk, 301 West Main Street, Owosso, MI  48867 or at (989) 725-
0500. The City of Owosso Website address is www.ci.owosso.mi.us.  
   



Draft 1 07-20-2015 

CITY OF OWOSSO  
REGULAR MEETING OF CITY COUNCIL 

MINUTES OF JULY 20, 2015  
7:30 P.M. 

 
 
PRESIDING OFFICER:  MAYOR BENJAMIN R. FREDERICK 
 
OPENING PRAYER:  MAYOR BENJAMIN R. FREDERICK 
     
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: COUNCILMAN MICHAEL J. O’LEARY 
 
PRESENT: Mayor Benjamin R. Frederick, Mayor Pro-Tem Christopher T. Eveleth, 

Councilpersons Loreen F. Bailey, Burton D. Fox, Elaine M. Greenway, 
Michael J. O'Leary, and Robert J. Teich, Jr. 

 
ABSENT: None. 
 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth to approve the agenda as presented. 
 
Motion supported by Councilperson Teich and concurred in by unanimous vote. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF REGULAR MEETING OF JULY 6, 2015 
 
Motion by Councilperson Bailey to approve the Minutes of the Regular Meeting of July 6, 2015 as 
presented. 
 
Motion supported by Councilperson Fox and concurred in by unanimous vote. 
 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF SPECIAL MEETING OF JULY 9, 2015 
 
Motion by Councilperson Fox to approve the Minutes of the Special Meeting of July 6, 2015 as presented. 
 
Motion supported by Councilperson Bailey and concurred in by unanimous vote. 
 

PROCLAMATIONS / SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS 
 
None. 
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
None. 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS 
 
Zack Rodriguez, 120 North Howell Street, said that he had received a violation notice for the swimming 
pool in his front yard and he was very unhappy as no one from the City measured his pool before issuing 
the violation notice and there was a possible $500 fine.  He asked that all violations issued by the Building 



Draft 2 07-20-2015 

Department be suspended until such time as the City can verify that the violations are legitimate.  He said 
he thought the Building Official was bullying people. 
 
City Manager Crawford responded to Mr. Rodriguez saying his property presented a unique problem in 
that it is located on a corner and the placement of the house at the back of the lot means there is no 
functional back yard.  He asked where one draws the line as to what you can have in the front yard in 
such a situation.  He went on to say that if Mr. Rodriguez empties the pool after each use there would be 
no issues that require enforcement, though he noted that the swing set in the front yard is a different 
matter. 
 
Councilperson Fox indicated he thought the pool should be located in the side yard as determined by 
which street the house fronts.  He said he had not heard of a corner lot having two front yards and City 
staff was unable to produce such an ordinance for his inspection.  Lastly, he said that staff needs to at 
least visually inspect each potential violation before issuing a violation notice. 
 
Councilperson O'Leary indicated it is common for zoning ordinances to declare a side yard on a corner as 
a front yard for setback purposes and that may be the source of the “two front yards” idea. 
Councilperson Fox asked that the City define in writing where Mr. Rodriguez can place his pool.  He also 
asked that staff look into the street parking and traffic control issues in that area. 
 
City Manager Crawford noted that the Building Official had indeed made a visual inspection of the 
property before the violation notice was issued.  The confusion lies in the fact that he did not measure the 
pool at that time. 
 
Councilperson Bailey noted that the Friends of the Shiawassee Annual River Clean-up will be August 1st 
from 9:00am to noon starting at the Oakwood Bridge. 
 

CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 
The City Manager had nothing to report. 
 

CONSENT AGENDA 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth to approve the Consent Agenda as follows: 
 
Boards and Commissions Appointment.  Approve the appointment of Michael O’Leary as the Council 
Representative to the Planning Commission for a term expiring November 14, 2016. 

 
Chemical Bank Account Signatories.  Consider resolution designating authorized signers on City 
accounts at Chemical Bank as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 64-2015 
 

NAMING THOSE AUTHORIZED TO SIGN  
ON BEHALF OF THE CITY OF OWOSSO 

FOR ACCOUNTS HELD AT CHEMICAL BANK 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso is required by law to declare an official depository for city funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances dictates the City Clerk, or the Clerk’s Deputy, sign checks drawn on 
City accounts; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s auditors recommend a counter-signature on said checks as a means of further 
security; and 



Draft 3 07-20-2015 

WHEREAS, from time to time the City must update the list of authorized signers to ensure it is current. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, 
Michigan that: 
 

FIRST: that Chemical Bank, 100 East Main Street, Owosso, Michigan 48867 be and is hereby 
designated as a depository of the funds of the City of Owosso, and that the said funds be 
subject to withdrawal upon checks, notes, drafts, bills of exchange, acceptances, 
undertakings or other orders for the payment of money when signed by the City Clerk 
and countersigned by any of the following:  Finance Director, City Manager, and/or City 
Treasurer-in the case of the Retirement Fund Account only. 

SECOND:  that the above named Chemical Bank is authorized to pay any such checks, notes, 
drafts, bills of exchange, acceptances, undertakings or other orders; and also to receive 
the same for the credit of or in payment from the payee or any other holder without injury 
as to the circumstances of issue of the disposition of the proceeds thereof, whether such 
instruments are payable, individually or otherwise, to the order of any person signing 
and/or counter-singing such instruments, or to the order of any of the other officers of the 
City, and whether such checks or other instruments are deposited to the individual credit 
of any person signing and/or counter-singing such instruments, or to the individual credit 
of any of the other officers of the City. 

THIRD:  that any and all endorsements for or on behalf of the City of Owosso upon checks, drafts, 
notes or instruments for deposit or collection made with the said Chemical Bank may be 
written or stamped endorsements of the City of Owosso without any designation of the 
person making such endorsements. 

FOURTH:  that said Chemical Bank be promptly notified in writing by the City Clerk of the City of 
Owosso of any change in this resolution and that until it has actually received such notice 
in writing said Chemical Bank is authorized to act in pursuance of this resolution. 

FIFTH: that any of the above designated officers are hereby authorized to execute on behalf of 
the City signature cards, or other documents, containing the rules and regulations of the 
Bank and the conditions under which deposits are accepted, and to agree on behalf of 
this City to those rules, regulations, and conditions. 

 
SIXTH: it is further certified that this resolution is within the power of the City as provided in the 

Charter and Ordinances of this City. 
 

Owosso Bike Fest Permission.  Approve application of Rick Morris on behalf of the Westown Corridor 
Improvement Authority for use of the parking lot and alley on the north side of the 800 block of West Main 
Street (Lot# 11) from 9:00am to 3:00pm on Sunday, August 9, 2015 for Owosso Bike Fest, waive the 
insurance requirement, and authorize Traffic Control Order No. 1333 formalizing the request. 

 
Gilbert Street Block Party Permission.  Consider authorization of the application of Jaimi Redmond, on 
behalf of the Gilbert Street block party group, for use of Gilbert Street from Oliver Street to Queen Street 
on August 29, 2015 from 2:00 p.m. to 11:00 p.m. for a block party, waive the insurance requirement, and 
approve Traffic Control Order No. 1334 formalizing the action. 

 
Bid Award – 2015 Double Chip Seal Program.  Approve bid award to Highway Maintenance and 
Construction Company for the 2015 Double Chip Seal Program in the amount of $121,719.68 and 
authorize payment up to the contract amount upon satisfactory completion of the work or portion thereof 
as follows: 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 65-2015 

 
AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT FOR 

THE 2015 DOUBLE CHIP SEAL PROGRAM  
WITH HIGHWAY MAINTENANCE AND CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 



Draft 4 07-20-2015 

WHEREAS, the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, Michigan, has determined that improvement to the 
surface quality of various streets is advisable, necessary and in the public interest; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city of Owosso sought bids to improve the surface of various streets as part of the 2015 
Double Chip Seal Program; a bid was received from Highway Maintenance and Construction Company; 
and it is hereby determined that Highway Maintenance and Construction Company is qualified to provide 
such services and that it has submitted the only responsible and responsive bid; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, 
Michigan that: 
 

FIRST: The City of Owosso has heretofore determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the 
public interest to employ Highway Maintenance and Construction Company for the 
surface improvement of various streets as part of the 2015 Double Chip Seal Program. 

 
SECOND: The mayor and city clerk are instructed and authorized to sign the document substantially 

in the form attached as Exhibit A, Contract for Services Between the City of Owosso, 
Michigan and Highway Maintenance and Construction Company in the amount of 
$121,719.68. 

 
THIRD: The accounts payable department is authorized to pay Highway Maintenance and 

Construction Company up to the contract amount upon satisfactory completion of the 
project or portion thereof. 

 
FOURTH: The above expenses shall be paid from the Major and Local Street Maintenance Fund. 
 

Bid Award - Quicklime.  Accept low bid from Graymont Western Lime Corporation for Quicklime in the 
amount of $144.00 per ton, with an estimated annual contract of $115,200.00 and authorize payment based 
on the bid unit prices for actual quantities required for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 66-2015 
 

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION 
OF A PURCHASE ORDER FOR 

QUICKLIME FOR WATER TREATMENT 
FOR FY 2015/16 

WITH GRAYMONT WESTERN LIME CORPORATION 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, Michigan, requires quicklime in bulk deliveries for use 
in treating municipal drinking water; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso sought bids for quicklime; a bid was received from Graymont Western Lime 
Corporation; and it is hereby determined that Graymont Western Lime Corporation is qualified to provide 
such product and that it has submitted the lowest responsible and responsive bid; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, 
Michigan that: 
 

FIRST: The City of Owosso has heretofore determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the 
public interest to purchase quicklime from Graymont Western Lime Corporation in the 
amount of $144 per ton for the city fiscal year 2015/2016 with an estimated total amount for 
the year of $115,200. 

 
SECOND: The purchase agreement between the City and Graymont Western Lime Corporation shall 

be in the form of a City Purchase Order and bid documents. 
 



Draft 5 07-20-2015 

THIRD: The above expenses shall be paid from the Water Fund following delivery. 
 

Bid Award – Class II Backfill Sand.  Accept low bid of Fuoss Gravel Company for Class II Backfill Sand 
in the amount of $4.49 per ton for fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 and authorize payment in accordance 
with unit prices up to 2100 tons as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 67-2015 
 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT FOR  
CLASS II BACKFILL SAND 

WITH FUOSS GRAVEL COMPANY 
  
WHEREAS, the city of Owosso, Shiawassee County, Michigan requires backfill sand to fill underground 
trenches; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city sought bids for Class II backfill sand for fiscal year 2015-2016 and two bids were 
received, with Fuoss Gravel Company being the lowest, and 
 
WHEREAS, it is hereby determined that Fuoss Gravel Company is qualified to provide such product and 
that they have submitted the lowest responsible and responsive bid. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, 
Michigan that: 
  

FIRST: The City of Owosso has heretofore determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the 
public interest to award the 2015-2016 Sand Purchase bid to Fuoss Gravel Co. for $4.49 
per ton. 

 
SECOND: The purchase agreement between the City of Owosso, Michigan and Fuoss Gravel 

Company shall be in the form of a City Purchase Order and bid documents. 
  
THIRD: The accounts payable department is authorized to pay Fuoss Gravel Company in 

accordance with unit prices up to 2100 tons upon satisfactory delivery. 
  
FOURTH: The above expenses shall be paid from the Water Fund and Local and Major Street 

Fund. 
 

Bid Award – 22A Gravel.  Accept low bid of Fuoss Gravel Company for 22A gravel in the amount of 
$8.49 per ton for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 and authorize payment in accordance with unit 
prices up to 1800 tons as follows: 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 68-2015 
 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT FOR  
22A GRAVEL 

WITH FUOSS GRAVEL COMPANY 
  
WHEREAS, the city of Owosso, Shiawassee County, Michigan requires gravel to fill trenches and for alley 
maintenance, and 
 
WHEREAS, the city sought bids for MDOT certified 22A gravel for fiscal year 2015-2016 and two bids 
were received, with Fuoss Gravel Company being the lowest, and 
 
WHEREAS, it is hereby determined that Fuoss Gravel Company is qualified to provide such product and 
that they have submitted the lowest responsible and responsive bid; and 
 



Draft 6 07-20-2015 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, 
Michigan that: 
  

FIRST: The City of Owosso has heretofore determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the 
public interest to award the 2015-2016 Gravel Purchase bid to Fuoss Gravel Co. for 
$8.49 per ton. 

 
SECOND: The purchase agreement between the City of Owosso, Michigan and Fuoss Gravel 

Company shall be in the form of a City Purchase Order and bid documents. 
  
THIRD: The accounts payable department is authorized to pay Fuoss Gravel Company in 

accordance with unit prices up to 1800 tons upon satisfactory delivery. 
  
FOURTH: The above expenses shall be paid from the Water Fund and Local and Major Street 

Fund. 
 

Warrant No. 506.  Authorize Warrant No. 506 as follows: 
 

Vendor Description Fund Amount 

Logicalis, Inc. Network engineering support- 
June 2015 Various $10,192.00 

William C. Brown, P.C. Professional services- 
June 9, 2015 – July13, 2015  General $11,097.84 

Waste Management  Landfill charges - June 16, 2015 –  
June 30, 2015 

Streets/ 
WWTP $ 5,952.99 

 
Check Register - June 2015. Affirm check disbursements totaling $ 2,148,944.34 for the month of  
June 2015. 
 
Motion supported by Councilperson Bailey. 
 
Roll Call Vote. 
 
AYES: Councilpersons Teich, Fox, Bailey, O'Leary, Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth, Councilperson 

Greenway, and Mayor Frederick.  
 
NAYS: None. 
 

ITEMS OF BUSINESS 
 
Property Return/Refund – 1281 Holly Court 
 
The owner of the noted property had approached the City about repurchasing his lot after it was 
determined he could not place the home he desired on the lot he purchased.  A provision of the Osburn 
Lakes Condominium Bylaws affords the developer (the City in this case) the opportunity to buy back lots 
in the development if a home is not constructed within 18 months of sale.   
 
Council conducted significant debate on the matter including in the discussion the realtors for both the 
buyer and the seller as well as a representative of the Osburn Lakes Homeowners Association.  The 
buyer felt he had been misled because the seller did not make specific mention of the wetlands on the 
property prior to his purchase and those wetlands are the reason he is unable to build the home he 
wants.  It was noted that vacant land requires no seller’s disclosure and the buyer had received a copy of 
the Master Deed which contained specific information regarding the wetlands in the development.   
 



Draft 7 07-20-2015 

Councilperson O'Leary expressed caution saying the City is a developer in name only and unless a clear 
hardship is documented then the Council could be going down a slippery slope in accepting the property 
back. 
 
Councilperson Fox said he felt that the wetlands should have specifically been mentioned prior to the 
sale, that being said he felt that the wetlands on the lot may be overstated.  He expressed concern that if 
the City refused to buy back the lot that any prospective buyers might be chased away.    
 
Motion by Councilperson Fox to approve the resolution authorizing the buy-back of the property and 
direct staff to identify all wetlands in the development. 
 
Mayor Frederick expressed his concern that Councilperson Fox was asking the City for more than is 
required from a typical property sale.  He said he felt confident the established processes were properly 
executed and the buyer had a responsibility to do due diligence prior to purchase. 
 
Councilperson Bailey expressed concern that buying back the lot would set a precedent that could be 
exploited in the future.  She asked if there was another property of interest to the buyer, that maybe a 
trade could be coordinated.  The buyer’s realtor noted that the lot in question was the biggest lot available 
in the development and that the combination of two lots would still not provide enough depth for the home 
they wish to build. 
 
The motion dies for lack of support. 
 
Motion by Councilperson O'Leary to deny the return/refund of 1281 Holly Court and advise the owner to 
pursue a private sale.   
 
Motion supported by Councilperson Teich. 
 
Roll Call Vote. 
 
AYES: Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth, Councilpersons Teich, O'Leary, and Mayor Frederick. 
 
NAYS: Councilpersons Fox, Bailey, and Greenway. 
 
Mayor Frederick noted there may be other solutions for the situation and he welcomed further research 
into those options. 
 
Future of Cable Access Channels 
 
City Clerk Amy K. Kirkland gave a brief history of the issue at hand saying the cable service provider 
(Charter) has to this point provided the means by which the City uses to deliver the signal for cable 
access channel 187 to the head end for distribution to cable customers.  Charter notified the City a 
number of years ago they desired to reclaim the bandwidth consumed by the return path but would allow 
the City to continue to use the return path until such time as the City’s use of the path negatively affected 
internet speeds for their customers.  That time has now come and the City must decide how it would like 
to proceed.  Ms. Kirkland outlined three options for the Council as noted in her memo dated July 16, 
2015:   
 

1. Create a new return path and resume present operation 
2. Leave the cable television market and provide video-on-demand on the internet 
3. Leave the cable television market and provide audio-on-demand on the internet 

 
Lastly she provided an explanation of the franchise fee and the PEG fee that the City is allowed to levy as 
a part of its franchise agreement.  Ms. Kirkland fielded a number of questions from Councilperson Fox 
regarding the fees. 
 



Draft 8 07-20-2015 

Mayor Frederick noted that with the release of the return path he would like to see audio recordings of the 
meetings placed on the website.  He also noted his desire to see a community based web channel.  
 
Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth inquired as to how long audio recordings should be posted to the website.  City 
Clerk Kirkland recommended 90 days. 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth to authorize releasing the return path for Charter Communications 
cable access channel no. 187, ceasing cablecast operations starting August 1, 2015, and directing staff to 
post audio files of each Council meeting to the City’s website for a period of 90 days. 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 69-2015 

 
RELINQUISHING CABLE ACCESS RETURN PATH 

AND CEASING VIDEO OPERATIONS 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso has two local access channels provided by Charter Communications; and 
 
WHEREAS, one of these channels, current Charter channel 187, carries video programming submitted by 
local individuals; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City utilizes a return path belonging to Charter Communications to deliver the signal for 
channel 187 to the head end for distribution into the cable system; and 
 
WHEREAS, Charter Communications has provided this return path free of charge for many, many years 
and now requests the City cease use of the path so they might utilize it to serve their local customers; and 
 
WHEREAS, Charter Communications is under no legal obligation to continue providing this path; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City will not be able to broadcast on the local cable networks without significant financial 
investment in the creation of a new return path; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has seen a dramatic reduction in participation on channel 187, both in those 
providing programming and in those watching the channel; and 
 
WHEREAS, the difficult economic conditions in which the City operates necessitates careful scrutiny of 
any and all expenditures, sometimes leading to cuts that are distasteful or touch our emotions; and 
 
WHEREAS, there are less expensive options available to allow citizens to listen to recordings of City 
Council meetings. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, 
Michigan that: 
 

FIRST: the return path currently utilized for Charter channel 187 will be vacated by the City of 
Owosso as of August 1, 2015. 

 
SECOND: the broadcast originating from the City on Charter channel 187 will cease on the date 

noted above. 
 
THIRD: the Mayor and City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute any documentation necessary 

to complete this transition. 
 
FOURTH: the Mayor and City Clerk are further authorized to execute an agreement with Charter 

Communications reserving the right to request the use of channel 187 (or its successor) 
for public, education, and governmental purposes at any point in the future. 

 



Draft 9 07-20-2015 

FIFTH: staff is directed to place an audio file of each City Council meeting on the City’s website 
for a period of 90 days. 

 
Motion supported by Councilperson O'Leary. 
 
Councilperson Fox inquired whether the motion includes an agreement to re-establish the channel in the 
future if the City desires.  It was indicated that the agreement in question is included in the resolution 
included in the packet.  Councilperson Fox further inquired how much it would cost to re-establish the 
channel in the future.  City Clerk Kirkland indicated that there was a cost analysis included in her memo.  
He had further questions regarding the current return path, replacement of the return path, the potential to 
stream video, and the purchase of video recording equipment. 
 
Councilperson Bailey called the question. 
 
Roll call vote to call the question. 
 
AYES: Councilpersons Bailey, Greenway, Fox, Teich, O'Leary, Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth, and 

Mayor Frederick. 
 
NAYS: None. 
 
Roll call vote on motion to approve resolution. 
 
AYES: Councilpersons Bailey, Greenway, Fox, Teich, O'Leary, Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth, and 

Mayor Frederick. 
 
NAYS: None. 
 

COMMUNICATIONS 
 
Charles P. Rau, Building Official.  June 2015 Building Department Report. 
Charles P. Rau, Building Official.  June 2015 Code Violations Report. 
Kevin D. Lenkart, Public Safety Director.  June 2015 Police Report. 
Kevin D. Lenkart, Public Safety Director.  June 2015 Fire Report. 
 

CITIZEN COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS 
 
Don Forster, 1221 Adams Street, asked all Council members to take the time to drive by Adams Park to 
view the new playscape installed as a part of Zak Matousek’s Eagle Scout project.  He said the park looks 
fantastic and the project was a great thing for the neighborhood.  He also encouraged the City to facilitate 
more Eagle Scout projects. 
 
Mike Rhode, local realtor, told Council that they were doing themselves an injustice by trying to function 
as developers for the Osburn Lakes condominium project. 
 
Zack Rodriguez, 120 North Howell Street, said he felt that the zoning ordinance needed to be re-
examined and clarified so that average folks can reference it and know what is expected of them. 
 
Kori Shook, local realtor, took offense to an earlier comment alluding to the idea that she had been less 
than truthful in her sale of the property at 1281 Holly Court.  She said she felt terrible that Mr. Rappuhn 
could not build the home he wants on the land that he purchased but it is neither her responsibility nor the 
City’s to ensure the property meets the needs of the buyer. 
 



Draft 10 07-20-2015 

Councilperson Teich sought clarification on the comment that characterized the lots at Osburn Lakes as 
being “unbuildable” due to their size.  City Manager Crawford noted that the lots are buildable lots, they 
are just not large enough for the extra-large homes that people desire these days. 
 
Councilperson O'Leary wanted to know if there was anything the City could do such as an auction or 
lottery to dispose of the vacant lots at Osburn Lakes and get out of the developer business. 
 
Mayor Frederick noted that he does not like the idea of being the developer for the project but the City 
finds itself kind of stuck in the role. 
 
Councilperson Fox said he was concerned about being able to sell the vacant lots in Osburn Lakes and 
said he wanted to explore the idea of amending the Master Deed at the next meeting. 
 
Councilperson Greenway noted that several Historical Commission members and community members 
had recently teamed up to clean up the gardens at the Gould House. 
 

NEXT MEETING 
 
Monday, August 03, 2015 
 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS OPENINGS 
 
Historical Commission, term expires December 31, 2017 
Planning Commission (2), both terms expire June 30, 2016 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Motion by Mayor Pro-Tem Eveleth for adjournment at 8:43 p.m. 
 
Motion supported by Councilperson Bailey and concurred in by unanimous vote. 
 
 
 
     __________________________________________  
     Benjamin R. Frederick, Mayor 
 
 
     __________________________________________  
     Amy K. Kirkland, City Clerk 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
  

301 W MAIN  ∙   OWOSSO, MICHIGAN 48867-2958 ∙   WWW.CI .OWOSSO.MI .US  
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
DATE: July 30, 2015 
 
TO: Mayor Frederick and the Owosso City Council 
  
FROM: Amy K. Kirkland, City Clerk  
 
SUBJECT: Ordinance amendment to bring the Code in line with the IPMC 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
I recommend setting a public hearing for August 17, 2015 to consider an amendment to Chapter 8, 
Buildings and Building Regulations, Article IX, Numbering of Buildings, to comply with the International 
Property Maintenance Code. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
The City adopted the International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) as the property maintenance code 
within the City limits.  The IPMC provides regulations for a wide range of instances and it was recently 
discovered that the Article of the City Code dealing with the numbering of buildings was in conflict with the 
IPMC.  At the time the IPMC was adopted the intention was to include language declaring all provisions in 
the Code that were in conflict with the IPMC to be repealed.  Due to an oversight this language was not 
included in the ordinance amendment that adopted the IPMC.  As such clarification of the issue with 
house numbers, in the form of an ordinance amendment, is necessary. 
 
The language used in the IPMC is noted below: 
 

304.3 Premises identification. Buildings shall have approved address numbers placed in a 
position to be plainly legible and visible from the street or road fronting the property. These 
numbers shall contrast with their background. Address numbers shall be Arabic numerals or 
alphabet letters. Numbers shall be a minimum of 4 inches (102 mm) high with a minimum stroke 
width of 0.5 inch (12.7 mm). 

 
FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document originated by: Amy K. Kirkland  



RESOLUTION NO. 
 

FIRST READING & SET PUBLIC HEARING FOR 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 8, BUILDINGS AND BUILDING REGULATIONS, 

ARTICLE IX, NUMBERING OF BUILDINGS 
OF THE CITY OF OWOSSO CODE 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso adopted the International Property Maintenance Code (IPMC) as the 
standard for property maintenance in the City limits; and 
 
WHEREAS, a discrepancy regarding the numbering of buildings exists between the City of Owosso Code 
and the IPMC and must be resolved. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY OF OWOSSO ORDAINS: 
 
SECTION 1.  AMENDMENT.  That existing Article IX, Numbering of Buildings, of Chapter 8, Buildings 
and Building Regulations, be amended to read: 
 
ARTICLE IX. - NUMBERING OF BUILDINGS  
 
Sec. 8-190. - Required. 
  

All buildings in the city shall bear a distinctive street number on the front at or near the front entrance 
of the premises placed in a position to be plainly legible and visible from the street or road fronting 
the property in accordance with and as designated upon the street plan map on file in the office of the 
city engineer.  

 
(Ord. No. 409, § 1(4.77), 7-18-83; Ord. No. 724, § 3, 11-21-11) 
 
Sec. 8-191. - Specifications.  
 

The owners and occupants of all buildings in the city shall cause the correct numbers to be placed 
thereon in accordance with the street plan map. Such numbers shall be not less than two (2) inches wide 
and three (3) inches high, shall befacing the street and adjacent to the principal entrance, and in such 
position as to be plainly visible from the street. a minimum of 4 inches high with a minimum stroke 
width of 0.5 inches, shall consist of Arabic numerals or alphabet letters, and shall contrast with 
their background as noted in the International Property Maintenance Code. 

 
(Ord. No. 409, § 1(4.78), 7-18-83; Ord. No. 724, § 3, 11-21-11) 
 
Secs. 8-192—8-199. - Reserved.  
 
SECTION 2.  PUBLIC HEARING. A public hearing is set for Monday, August 17, 2015 at 7:30 p.m. for the 
purpose of hearing citizen comment regarding the proposed ordinance amendment. 
 
SECTION 3.  AVAILABILITY. This ordinance may be purchased or inspected in the City Clerk's Office, 
Monday through Friday between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
 
SECTION 4.  EFFECTIVE DATE. This amendment shall become effective 20 days after approval. 
 
 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

301 W. MAIN    OWOSSO, MICHIGAN 48867-2958    WWW.CI.OWOSSO.MI.US 
 
 

    
 
DATE: July 30, 2015 
 
TO: Mayor Frederick and the Owosso City Council  
 
FROM: Susan Montenegro, assistant city manager / community development director 
 
SUBJECT: Proposed rezoning of the following addresses along the M-71 Corridor to reduce spot 

zoning and follow the future land use plan as outlined in the 2012 Master Plan. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
The Planning Commission recommends zoning changes to the ordinance that would rezone the following 
addresses to reduce spot zoning, encourage economic growth and development along the M-71 Corridor, 
and bring the area into alignment with the 2012 Master Plan.   
 
The addresses and recommended changes are: 
 

Parcel Address Parcel Number Current Zoning Proposed Zoning 
424 Maple 050-710-000-001-00 R-2 R-1 
416 Maple 050-710-000-003-00 R-2 R-1 
637 Corunna Ave 050-710-000-002-00 R-2 R-1 
633 Corunna Ave 050-542-000-019-00 R-2 R-1 
706 Corunna Ave 050-542-000-032-00 RM-1 B-4 
625 Huron 050-542-000-022-00 I-2 I-1 
460 E. Howard 050-680-003-004-00 R-2 I-1 
452 E. Howard 050-680-003-003-00 R-2 I-1 
446 E. Howard 050-680-003-002-00 R-2 I-1 
440 E. Howard 050-680-003-001-00 R-2 I-1 
Division Street 050-680-001-001-00 R-1 I-2 
401 E. Howard 050-680-002-003-00 I-2 I-2 
330 Howard 050-651-018-001-00 I-2 I-1 
514 Division 050-651-018-003-00 I-2 I-1 
515 S. Saginaw  050-651-018-004-00 I-2 I-1 
509 S. Saginaw  050-651-018-002-00 I-2 I-1 
S. Washington  050-651-000-005-00 I-2 I-1 

 
Classifications 

R1 – One family residential  R2 – Two family residential 
   RM-1 Multiple-family residential  B4 – General business district 

I1 – Light industrial   I2 – General industrial 
 

 
 
 
 

AKKirkland
Sticky Note
The City is experiencing difficulties with its mapping application at this time.  A map highlighting the properties affected by the proposed rezoning will be posted as soon as possible.



BACKGROUND:  
 
The Planning Commission continues to address areas of spot zoning within the city limits to correct the 
zoning and bring land use into conformity with the Master Plan. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No fiscal impacts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document originated by:   Susan Montenegro 



RESOLUTION NO.  
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 38 ZONING OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES  
TO REZONE VARIOUS PARCELS OF REAL PROPERTY ALONG THE M-71 CORRIDOR  

AND AMEND THE ZONING MAP 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso adopted a Master Plan in 2012 which includes a future land use plan; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission desires to carefully implement prudent changes suggested by the 
Master Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission recommends the rezoning of select parcels in the area of Corunna 
Avenue to reduce spot zoning and create an area with effective zoning for potential development and 
economic growth while allowing land owners to maintain the current use of their property if they so desire; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission published and mailed notices for the proposed rezoning, held a 
public hearing on the proposal, and deliberated on the proposal; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the proposed rezonings meet the intent and criteria for a 
zoning amendment as it relates to the Master Plan and the Zoning Ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the City staff and Planning Commission recommend, without reservations or conditions, the 
rezoning of the following parcels: 
 

Parcel Address Parcel Number Current Zoning Proposed Zoning 
424Maple 050-710-000-001-00 R-2 R-1 
416 Maple 050-710-000-003-00 R-2 R-1 
637 Corunna Ave 050-710-000-002-00 R-2 R-1 
633 Corunna Ave 050-542-000-019-00 R-2 R-1 
706 Corunna Ave 050-542-000-032-00 RM-1 B-4 
625 Huron 050-542-000-022-00 I-2 I-1 
460 E. Howard 050-680-003-004-00 R-2 I-1 
452 E. Howard 050-680-003-003-00 R-2 I-1 
446 E. Howard 050-680-003-002-00 R-2 I-1 
440 E. Howard 050-680-003-001-00 R-2 I-1 
Division Street 050-680-001-001-00 R-1 I-2 
401 E. Howard 050-680-002-003-00 I-2 I-2 
330 Howard 050-651-018-001-00 I-2 I-1 
514 Division 050-651-018-003-00 I-2 I-1 
515 S. Saginaw  050-651-018-004-00 I-2 I-1 
509 S. Saginaw  050-651-018-002-00 I-2 I-1 
S. Washington  050-651-000-005-00 I-2 I-1 

 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the item must now be considered by the City Council and a public hearing by the Council is 
required before any such ordinance amendment can be acted upon. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY OF OWOSSO ORDAINS:  



      
SECTION 1.     OFFICIAL ZONING MAP AMENDMENT.  That Chapter 38, Zoning, Sec. 38-27, Zoning 
Districts and Map, reflect the following changes, to be noted on the official map and filed with the city 
clerk:           
      

Parcel Address Parcel Number Current Zoning Proposed Zoning 
424Maple 050-710-000-001-00 R-2 R-1 
416 Maple 050-710-000-003-00 R-2 R-1 
637 Corunna Ave 050-710-000-002-00 R-2 R-1 
633 Corunna Ave 050-542-000-019-00 R-2 R-1 
706 Corunna Ave 050-542-000-032-00 RM-1 B-4 
625 Huron 050-542-000-022-00 I-2 I-1 
460 E. Howard 050-680-003-004-00 R-2 I-1 
452 E. Howard 050-680-003-003-00 R-2 I-1 
446 E. Howard 050-680-003-002-00 R-2 I-1 
440 E. Howard 050-680-003-001-00 R-2 I-1 
Division Street 050-680-001-001-00 R-1 I-2 
401 E. Howard 050-680-002-003-00 I-2 I-2 
330 Howard 050-651-018-001-00 I-2 I-1 
514 Division 050-651-018-003-00 I-2 I-1 
515 S. Saginaw  050-651-018-004-00 I-2 I-1 
509 S. Saginaw  050-651-018-002-00 I-2 I-1 
S. Washington  050-651-000-005-00 I-2 I-1 

 
SECTION 2.  PUBLIC HEARING.  A public hearing is set for Monday, August 17, 2015 at 7:30 p.m. for 
the purpose of hearing citizen comment regarding the proposed ordinance amendment. 
 
SECTION 3.  NOTICE.  Council hereby directs staff to supply a public notice concerning the rezoning to a 
newspaper of general circulation within the city. 
 
SECTION 4.  AVAILABILITY.  This ordinance may be purchased or inspected in the city clerk’s office, 
Monday through Friday between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.  
 
SECTION 5.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  This amendment shall become effective twenty days after passage. 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
  

301 W MAIN  ∙   OWOSSO, MICHIGAN 48867-2958 ∙   WWW.CI .OWOSSO.MI .US  
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
DATE: July 28, 2015 
 
TO: Mayor Frederick and the Owosso City Council 
  
FROM: Amy K. Kirkland, City Clerk 
 
SUBJECT: Correction to May 4, 2015 Minutes 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
I recommend Council approve correction of the May 4, 2015 City Council meeting minutes to reflect the 
fact that no citizen comments were received prior to or during the meeting in regard to the Public Hearing 
for the proposed amendment to the refuse collection ordinance. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
In the course of searching for something else I noticed that the minutes documenting the public hearing 
for amendment of the refuse collection ordinance failed to note whether or not the City received any 
citizen comments regarding the matter.  The receipt of citizen comment being the entire purpose behind 
holding a public hearing I feel it is important to correct the minutes to reflect any comments that were 
made, or that there were no comments at all.  A search of the meeting records verified that no comments 
were received prior to or during the meeting, as such I am asking the Council to approve the correction 
noted in the attached excerpt. 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document originated by: Amy K. Kirkland 



ORDINANCE AMENDMENT - RESIDENTIAL REFUSE COLLECTION  
 
A public hearing was conducted to receive citizen comment regarding the proposed ordinance to amend 
Section 34-49, Refuse collection-Residential collection, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Owosso 
to allow trash to be placed at the curb the night before scheduled trash collection. 
 
City Manager Crawford explained that there is confusion with the current wording of the ordinance. 
Specifically, that garbage cannot be taken to the curb until the morning of pick up.  A large percentage of 
people put the trash out the day before scheduled collections.  He stated that there shouldn’t be a 
problem if trash is put to the curb after 4:00 p.m. and garbage cans are not left at the curb for extended 
periods of time.  
 
There were no citizen comments regarding this ordinance amendment received prior to or during 
the meeting. 
 
Motion Councilperson Teich to amend Section 34-49, Refuse Collection-Residential Collection, to allow 
residents to place refuse curb-side no earlier than 4:00 pm the day before collection.  
 

ORDINANCE NO. 765 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 34-49,  REFUSE COLLECTION-RESIDENTIAL COLLECTION,   
OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF OWOSSO, MICHIGAN  

PERTAINING TO PLACING OF REFUSE FOR COLLECTION 
 
WHEREAS, the Code of Ordinances of the City of Owosso, Michigan currently has rules and regulations 
applying to residential refuse collection requiring that refuse not be placed at curbside until the morning of 
collection; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city desires to repeal that morning of collection provision to allow the placing of refuse at 
curbside the evening before collection. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT THE CITY OF OWOSSO ORDAINS: 
 
SECTION 1.  AMENDMENT.  That Section 34-49(2) be amended to read as follows: 
 
Sec. 34-49. - Refuse collection—Residential collection.  
 

(2) If curb side pick-up is selected by the resident, refuse is to be placed inside the curb so that the 
same shall not in any way be in the traffic portion of the street, and shall be placed inside the curb 
for pick-up on the morning no earlier than 4:00 p.m. the day before the day of collection in 
residential areas.  Any containers belonging to the resident that are left at the curb after collection 
of refuse are to be removed to the back or side yard on or before 12:00 midnight, of the day of 
collection.  Materials left at the curb for pick-up must be in city-approved containers.  The 
responsibility of compliance with the provisions of this section shall be with the property owner or 
person placing refuse at the curb.  Any violator of the provisions of this section will be 
immediately ticketed by the police department. 

 
SECTION 2.  EFFECTIVE DATE. This amendment shall become effective May 25, 2015. 
 
SECTION 3.  AVAILABILITY. This ordinance may be purchased or inspected in the city clerk's office, 
Monday through Friday between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. 
 
Motion Supported by Pro-Tem Eveleth.    
 
Roll Call Vote. 
 



AYES:               Councilperson Bandkau, Pro Tem Eveleth, Councilpersons Teich, Fox, Bailey, Greenway 
and Mayor Frederick. 

 
NAYS:               None. 
 



 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
  

301 W MAIN  ∙   OWOSSO, MICHIGAN 48867-2958 ∙   WWW.CI .OWOSSO.MI .US  
  

 
 
 

 
 
 
DATE: July 28, 2015 
 
TO: Mayor Frederick and the Owosso City Council 
  
FROM: Amy K. Kirkland, ccl 
 
SUBJECT: ADA Voting Booth Grant Agreement 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
I recommend Council approve a grant agreement with the Michigan Department of State for funds to 
reimburse the City for the purchase of 6 ADA-compliant voting booths as a part of the Voting Access for 
Individuals with Disabilities (VOTE) Program. 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
A portion of the funds set aside by the Help America Vote Act (HAVA) have been earmarked to assist 
municipalities ensure their polling locations are handicap accessible (VOTE Program).  One aspect the 
VOTE Program will assist with is the purchase of handicap accessible voting booths.  As you can 
imagine, the typical stand-up voting booths used in our precincts would not be able to accommodate a 
voter in a wheel chair.  In order to accommodate these voters past practice has been to set up a small 
table with a cardboard screen in each precinct.  While this method provides the required access for 
handicapped voters there is no lighting in the “booth” and it provides little in the way of dignity to those 
that must use it because of its cobbled nature.  And with the State’s recent push to ensure that 
handicapped voters are provided with accommodations of the same quality as that for other voters I am 
eager to take advantage of this opportunity.  The VOTE Program has stepped in to facilitate the purchase 
of ADA-compliant voting booths by agreeing to reimburse municipalities for the purchase of one booth per 
precinct.  Attached you will find a grant agreement detailing the reimbursement program. 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
The grant will cover the purchase of the booths themselves but will not cover shipping charges.  The 
breakdown of costs is as follows: 
 
 VOTE Funds: $1,290.00 
 City Funds: $     91.63 (shipping total is approximate) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document originated by: Amy K. Kirkland 



RESOLUTION NO. 
 

AUTHORIZING A GRANT AGREEMENT WITH 
THE MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF STATE 

FOR VOTE PROGRAM FUNDS 
TO PURCHASE ADA-COMPLIANT VOTING BOOTHS 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso is responsible for conducting elections in the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, all eligible voters are encouraged to vote, no matter their physical ability or form of 
locomotion; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso has six election precincts voters use each election day and these 
precincts must be able to accommodate handicapped voters; and 
 
WHEREAS, grant funds are available through the VOTE Program for the purchase of ADA-compliant 
voting booths and the City wishes to avail itself of this assistance. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee County, 
Michigan that: 
 

FIRST: it has heretofore determined that it is advisable, necessary and in the public interest to 
purchase six ADA-compliant voting booths from Election Source for use in the City’s 
precincts. 

 
SECOND: the Mayor and City Clerk are instructed and authorized to sign the document substantially 

in the form attached as Exhibit A, Grant Agreement for Help America Vote Act Section 
261 Financial Assistance Voting Access for Individuals with Disabilities Program for 
reimbursement of the purchase price of said booths. 

 
THIRD: the Accounts Payable Department is authorized to pay Election Source $1381.63 upon 

satisfactory receipt of the booths, with $1,290.00 to be reimbursed by grant funding. 
 
FOURTH: any remaining expense shall be paid from the Elections line item, 101-215-706000. 





 

B U R E A U  O F  E LE C T ION S  
R IC H A R D  H .  A U S T IN  B U IL D I N G  h 1S T  F LO OR  h  43 0  W .  A L LE GA N  h  L A N S IN G ,  M IC H IG A N  4 8 91 8  

w w w . M i ch i ga n .g o v / so s  h ( 51 7 )  3 7 3 - 2 5 4 0  

 

 
July 21, 2015 

           
STATE OF MICHIGAN 

MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF STATE 
AND 

CITY OF OWOSSO, SHIAWASSEE COUNTY 
GRANT AGREEMENT FOR  
HELP AMERICA VOTE ACT  

SECTION 261 FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
VOTING ACCESS FOR INDIVIDUALS  

WITH DISABILITIES (VOTE) PROGRAM 
 
Definitions: 
 
Authorized Purchase Plan:  Your “Authorized Purchase Plan” is the detailed listing of the 
Accessible Voting Booths you intend to purchase for each polling place location that have 
been authorized by the Department of State and the maximum grant award amount for 
each Accessible Voting Booth, based upon the information provided in your original 
Application.   
 
Project Period:  The Project Period is the date the Grant Agreement and Authorized 
Purchase Plan are signed by both the city or township and the Department of State 
through August 30, 2015.  (All Accessible Voting Booths must be received and payment 
processed by August 30, 2015.  The Grantee must request reimbursement from the 
Department by September 15, 2015.) 
 
This Grant Agreement is between the Michigan Department of State (“Department”) and 
CITY OF OWOSSO, SHIAWASSEE COUNTY (“Grantee”).   This document shall 
constitute the Grantee’s agreement for the receipt of federal financial assistance provided 
to the State under the provisions of Title II, Section 261, of the Help America Vote Act 
(HAVA), CFDA 93.617.  The Department also refers to this program as    The Voting 
Access for Individuals with Disabilities (VOTE) Program. 
  
The purpose of this grant is to set forth the requirements that must be met by each grantee 
seeking use of HAVA funding in order to make all polling places accessible to voters with 
the full range of disabilities as referenced under Section 261 of HAVA.  This grant utilizes 
100% federal funds and is contingent on the availability of federal funds and any 
necessary State appropriation.  This grant is also contingent on the ability of the 
Department to obtain all required approvals, including approval by the State Administrative 
Board for grant awards that exceed $250,000. 
 
 



July 21, 2015 
Page 2 

 

City of Owosso, Shiawassee County 
 

1.  General: 
The Grantee agrees to comply with all directives, guidelines and policy statements related 
to the Voting Access for Individuals with Disabilities (VOTE) Program issued by the 
Department to the Grantee during the grant period. 
 
This is a State of Michigan Grant and is governed by the laws of the State of Michigan.  
Any dispute arising as a result of this grant shall be resolved in the State of Michigan.    
 
2. Project Period:   
The project period shall commence on the date of execution of this Agreement (once 
signed by both parties), and shall expire on August 30, 2015 except as provided in section 
7(c).  To receive reimbursement under this grant program, the Grantee must incur the 
expenditure by receiving the goods prior to the end of the project period.    
 
3.  Authorized Amounts: 
The Grantee has applied for and has been awarded a grant in the amount of $1,290.00.  
The purpose of this grant is to provide financial assistance to the Grantee for the purchase 
of Accessible Voting Booths needed under this program.  The specific Accessible Voting 
Booths are outlined on the Authorized Purchase Plan, Attachment A.  The Authorized 
Purchase Plan lists the number of authorized Accessible Voting Booths for each polling 
place, along with the authorized award amount for each booth.  Reimbursement will be 
issued by polling place for the lesser of 1) the actual expenditures of all approved 
Accessible Voting Booths or 2) the amount awarded for all approved Accessible Voting 
Booths  
 
The Grantee must verify, sign and return the final Authorized Purchase Plan (Attachment 
A) and this Grant Agreement to the Department before purchasing the Accessible Voting 
Booths.  If the Grantee wants to purchase goods beyond those authorized in the 
Authorized Purchase Plan, it may do so at its sole expense.  

 
4.  Payment Process:   
This grant program is reimbursement only.  Authorized funds will be made payable directly 
to the Grantee.  The Grantee is responsible for purchasing each Accessible Voting Booth.  
The Grantee shall request reimbursement from the Department on a reimbursement 
request form prescribed by the Department.  The Grantee must submit all reimbursement 
requests to the Department by September 15, 2015.  The Department may extend this 
date if the Grantee obtained an exception to the project period. 
 
5.  Ownership: 
All Accessible Voting Booths purchased pursuant to this Grant Agreement are the property 
of the jurisdiction.  The Grantee agrees to maintain records pertaining to this grant for a 
period of not less than six (6) years from the date of the Department’s reimbursement to 
the Grantee.   
 
6.  Managing Accessible Voting Booth Projects:   
The Grantee is the designated point of contact with regard to this grant award, Grant 
Agreement, Authorized Purchase Plan and funding related to this program.  The Grantee 
has sole responsibility for overseeing contractual agreements with any vendor involved in 
the purchase of Accessible Voting Booths.  The Grantee is responsible for maintaining any 



July 21, 2015 
Page 3 

 

City of Owosso, Shiawassee County 
 

and all vendor performance records, and has sole responsibility for verifying vendor 
compliance with all requirements of individual polling place improvements.  
 
The Grantee is responsible for compliance with all local ordinances The Grantee must 
agree to use the polling places receiving a grant award for Accessible Voting Booths for a 
minimum of three even-year November general election cycles that follow the receipt of 
payment(s), unless the building is rendered otherwise unusable. 
 
7.  Changes/Modifications to Authorized Purchase Plan: 
The Grantee must obtain prior written approval from the Department whenever: 

a. A revision is needed which would result in the need for additional funds. 
b. Any changes or modification to the scope or objective of the project are needed, 

regardless of whether there is an associated need for additional funds. 
c. There is a need to extend the period of availability of funds. 

 
8.  Procurement Process Requirements: 
The Grantee agrees to comply with all applicable Federal, State, and Local procurement 
laws, regulations, and directives.  These directives include, but are not limited to, the 
following: 

a. To ensure that costs are reasonable, the Grantee must solicit competitive bids 
whenever possible.  At least three competitive bids are required for all purchases 
over $25,000.  Bids must be obtained from independent third parties and the 
Grantee must avoid the appearance or occurrence of a conflict of interest. 

b. The Grantee may not procure services from businesses or individuals that are 
debarred or suspended, or otherwise excluded from or ineligible for participation in 
federal assistance programs.  The System for Award Management 
(https://www.sam.gov/portal/public/SAM/#1) can be accessed to search for 
businesses and individuals that are suspended or debarred. 

c. The Grantee must take appropriate affirmative action steps to support minority 
business firms, women’s business enterprises, and labor surplus area firms and 
shall give preference in procurement to the purchase of specific products containing 
recycled materials (as identified in the guidelines published by the U.S. 
Environmental Protection Agency). 

d. To the fullest extent possible, all equipment and products purchased with these 
funds should be American made. 

e. When issuing statements, press releases, requests for proposals, bid solicitations 
and other documents describing projects funded in whole or partially by federal 
money, all grantees shall clearly state: 

i. The percentage of the total costs of the program or projects that will 
be financed with federal money. 

ii. The dollar amount of federal funds for the project or program, and 
iii. The percentage and dollar amount of the total costs of the project or 

program that will be financed by nongovernmental sources. 
 
9.  Other Federal Compliance Requirements: 
The Grantee hereby certifies compliance with the following:  all regulations, policies, 
guidelines and requirements imposed by the United States Department of Health and 
Human Services; and all legal and administrative requirements as they relate to the 
agreement; acceptance and use of funds for this federally funded grant.   



July 21, 2015 
Page 4 

 

City of Owosso, Shiawassee County 
 

 
The signature on this Grant Agreement by the grantee’s authorized official attests to the 
intent of the Grantee to comply with the following certifications: 
 
(1) Certification Regarding Drug-Free Work Place (45 CFR part 76) (Attachment B-1) 
(2) Debarment Certification (45 CFR 76) (Attachment B-2) 
(3) Environmental Tobacco Smoke (Attachment B-3) 
(4) Certification Regarding Lobbying (Attachment B-4) 
(5) Assurances-Construction Programs (Attachment B-5) 
 
Additional requirements include, but are not limited to:   

a. OMB Circular A-87 “Cost Principles for State and Local Governments.”  This circular 
outlines the cost principles to be employed by State and Local Governments. 

b. OMB Circular A-102 “Grants and Cooperative Agreements With State and Local 
Governments.”  This circular outlines the administrative requirements for State and 
Local Governments. 

c. OMB Circular A-133 “Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit 
Organizations.”  This circular outlines the audit requirements for State and Local 
Governments. 

 
These circulars can be obtained from the United States Office of Management and 
Budget’s website at:  
http://www.whitehouse.gov/omb/grants/grants_circulars.html 
 
10.  Financial Records: 
The Grantee shall retain for inspection and audit all books, accounts, reports, files and 
other records relating to the bidding and performance of this agreement for a period of not 
less than six (6) years after final reimbursement of this grant.   
 
This documentation shall be available and produced for inspection and audit when 
required by the Department. 
The Grantee shall return to the Department, within thirty (30) days of written request by the 
Department, all funds received which are not supported by audit or other State or Federal 
review of documentation maintained by the Grantee. 
 
11.  Indemnification: 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Grantee shall indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless the Department, the State of Michigan, and their agents, officers and employees, 
from and against any and all lawsuits, liabilities, damages, and claims or other proceedings 
brought by any third party (including but not limited to employees of the Department, the 
State of Michigan, and the Grantee), and any and all related costs and expenses (including 
reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements and the costs of investigation, settlement, 
judgments, interest, and penalties) arising from or in connection with any of the activities to 
be carried out by the Grantee in the performance of this Agreement. 

 
The duty to indemnify as set forth in this section will continue in full force and effect, 
notwithstanding the expiration or early termination of this Agreement, with respect to any 
claims based on facts or conditions occurring prior to expiration or termination. 
 



July 21, 2015 
Page 5 

 

City of Owosso, Shiawassee County 
 

12.  Administration of Agreement: 
The Grant Administrator on behalf of the Department will be: 
 
 David Foster, Elections Specialist 
 Bureau of Elections 
 PO Box 20126 
 Lansing, MI 48901-0726 
 Telephone: (517) 335-2795 
 E-mail: FosterD2@Michigan.gov 
  
All questions, comments, and correspondence regarding this grant must be submitted in 
writing to the Grant Administrator. 
 
13.  Special Certification/Signature: 
The following signatory certifies that the person signing is authorized to sign and bind the 
Grantee to this grant agreement   Further, the person signing has reviewed and agrees to 
the above conditions and has personally examined and is familiar with the information 
submitted herein.  Furthermore, the signatory represents and agrees to the terms and 
conditions in this grant agreement and the requirements of the Help America Vote Act, 
under which this grant has been submitted. 
 
For the City/Township: 
 
_________________________________________________________________  
Name (print)    Title (Print)    
 
___________________________________________    ________________  
Signature        Date 
 
_________________________________________________________________
Name (print)                                  Title (print)
 
___________________________________________           ________________
Signature                                                                                  Date
 
For the State of Michigan, Department of State: 
 
Cindy Paradine                     Director, Office of Financial Services  
Name (print)    Title 
 
 
___________________________________________    ________________ 
Signature        Date 
 

AKKirkland
Line

AKKirkland
Line







 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

301 W. MAIN    OWOSSO, MICHIGAN 48867-2958    WWW.CI.OWOSSO.MI.US 
 
 

    
 
DATE: July 30, 2015 
 
TO: City Council  
 
FROM: Susan Montenegro, assistant city manager / community development director 
 
SUBJECT: Participation in the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) 

Redevelopment Ready Communities (RRC) program. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Staff recommends that the city of Owosso participate in the MEDC’s RRC program. 
 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
The RRC program is a statewide program that certifies Michigan communities who actively engage 
stakeholders and plan for the future.  An RRC certification signals to business owners, developers and 
investors that the community has removed development barriers by building deliberate, fair and 
consistent processes.  Communities that participate in the RRC program undergo a rigorous assessment 
to determine areas of strength and weakness and how the community can improve.  In essence, RRC is 
a way to benchmark where a community is currently by measuring against best practices already 
established by the MEDC.  Each best practice addresses certain key elements of community and 
economic development.  
 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
n/a 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Document originated by:   Susan Montenegro 

 
 
 
 

AKKirkland
Sticky Note
Please view the attached RRC Best Practices document by clicking the paperclip icon on the left edge of the screen.



RESOLUTION NO.  
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF OWOSSO TO 
PARTICIPATE IN THE MICHIGAN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (MEDC) 

REDEVELOPMENT READY COMMUNITIES PROGRAM 
 
 WHEREAS, the Michigan Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) has established the 
statewide Redevelopment Ready Communities (RRC) program to empower communities to shape their 
future and maximize economic potential; and 

 WHEREAS, RRC is a program that provides technical assistance to and certifies Michigan 
communities who actively engage stakeholders and plan deliberate, fair and consistent processes; and 

 WHEREAS, the city of Owosso recognizes the value of the RRC program and the importance of 
aligning our community’s readiness for new development and redevelopment of existing properties; and 

 WHEREAS, the RRC program includes evaluating and strengthening the development-related 
partnerships between the city council and stakeholder organizations such as: the MEDC, Owosso Main 
Street (OMS), and Owosso planning commission (PC); and 

WHEREAS, the Owosso city council is willing to  commit to improving its redevelopment 
readiness by agreeing to undergo a rigorous assessment of its regulations and processes for addressing 
economic development opportunities; and 

WHEREAS, the Owosso city council is willing to participate in the MEDC Redevelopment Ready 
Communities Program, including increased interaction and partnership with the MEDC, OMS, and PC. 

 WHEREAS, the RRC Certification Program will make Michigan more competitive, which will help 
local communities to attract more businesses and talent and create local jobs.  

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS RESOLVED, the city of Owosso hereby commits to RRC’s Best Practices with 
hopes of being awarded RRC Certification. 



 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 

301 W. MAIN    OWOSSO, MICHIGAN 48867-2958    WWW.CI.OWOSSO.MI.US 
 
 

    
 
DATE: August 3, 2015 
 
TO: Owosso City Council 
  
FROM: Mark Sedlak, Director of Public Services 
 
SUBJECT: Westtown Parking Lot 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
I find the cost reasonable and recommend accepting the bid from Sumbera Excavating, Inc. and approve 
a contract to them in the amount of $40,429.68.   
 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
The city purchased the property located at 111 S. Lansing Street and prepared the site for a proposed 
parking lot. The city received bids on July 23, 2015 for paving of the lot. The bid request was for an 
asphalt pavement with concrete alternative. After comparing bid alternatives, the bid from Sumbera 
Excavating, Inc., with the concrete alternative, in the amount of $40,429.68 is determined to be the lowest 
and most responsive bid.  A tabulation of bids received is included for your consideration. 
  
 
FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
The project is funded by General Fund Account No.101-585-974.000 WESTOWNLOT. 
 

 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO.  
 

AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF A CONTRACT WITH  
SUMBERA EXCAVATING, INC. FOR 

THE CONSTRUCTION OF WESTOWN PARKING LOT 
 
WHEREAS, the city of Owosso, Shiawassee County, Michigan, has determined that it is in the 
best interest of the public to erect a parking facility servicing the businesses along the south side 
of west Main Street; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city recommends that a parking facility be constructed on the property previously 
known as 111 South Lansing Street, and hereon to be referred to as the Westown Parking Lot. 
 
WHEREAS, the city of Owosso sought bids to construct the Westown Parking Lot, and a bid was 
received from Sumbera Excavating, Inc.  and it is hereby determined that Sumbera Excavating, 
Inc. is qualified to provide such services and that it has submitted the lowest responsible and 
responsive bid. 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee 
County, Michigan that: 
 

FIRST: The City of Owosso has heretofore determined that it is advisable, necessary 
and in the public interest to employ Sumbera Excavating, Inc. for construction of 
the Westown Parking Lot. 

 
SECOND: The mayor and city clerk are instructed and authorized to sign the document 

substantially in the form attached as Exhibit A, Contract for Services Between the 
city of Owosso, Michigan and Sumbera Excavating, Inc. in the amount of 
$40,429.68. 

 
THIRD: The accounts payable department is authorized to pay Sumbera Excavating, Inc.  

for work satisfactorily completed on the project up to the bid amount. 
 
FOURTH: The above expenses shall be paid from the General Fund Account No. 101-585-

974.000 WESTOWNLOT. 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contract for Services Between 
 

The City of Owosso 
 

and 
 

Sumbera Excavating, Inc. 
 
 

Westown Parking Lot Construction 
 
 

July 2015 
 

  



CONTRACT 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is made on July ____, 2015 between the CITY OF OWOSSO, a Michigan 
municipal corporation, 301 W. Main Street, Owosso, Michigan 48867 (“city”) and SUMBERA 
EXCAVATING, INC. (“contractor”), a Michigan company, whose address is 6490 McBride Road, 
Owosso, Michigan 48867. 
 
Based upon the mutual promises below, the contractor and the city agree as follows: 
 
ARTICLE I - Scope of work 
The contractor agrees to furnish all of the materials, equipment and labor necessary and to abide 
by all the duties and responsibilities applicable to it for the project entitled “WESTOWN PARKING 
LOT CONSTRUCTION”, in accordance with the requirements and provisions of the following 
documents, including all written modifications incorporated into any of the documents, which are 
incorporated as part of this contract: 
  
 Bid forms 
 Bid pages 
 Contract and exhibits 
 Bonds 
 General conditions 
 Standard specifications 
 Detailed specifications 
  
ARTICLE II - The Contract Sum 
(A) The city shall pay to the contractor for the performance of the contract, the unit prices as given 
in the bid forms not to exceed forty thousand four hundred twenty-nine dollars and sixty-eight cents 
dollars ($40,429.68).  No additional work shall be performed unless a change order is issued by 
the city. 
 
(B) The amount paid shall be equitably adjusted to cover changes in the work ordered by the city 
but not required by the contract documents where there is a written change order. 
 
ARTICLE III – Assignment 
This contract may not be assigned or subcontracted without the written consent of the city. 
 
ARTICLE IV - Choice of law 
This contract shall be construed, governed, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the state of 
Michigan.  By executing this agreement, the contractor and the city agree to a venue in a court of 
appropriate jurisdiction sitting within Shiawassee County for purposes of any action arising under 
this contract. 
 
Whenever possible, each provision of the contract will be interpreted in a manner as to be effective 
and valid under applicable law.  The prohibition or invalidity, under applicable law, of any provision 
will not invalidate the remainder of the contract. 
 
ARTICLE V - Relationship of the parties 
The parties of the contract agree that it is not a contract of employment but is a contract to 
accomplish a specific result.  Contractor is an independent contractor performing services for the 
city.  Nothing contained in this contract shall be deemed to constitute any other relationship 
between the city and the contractor. 
 
Contractor certifies that it has no personal or financial interest in the project other than the 
compensation it is to receive under the contract.  Contractor certifies that it is not, and shall not 
become, overdue or in default to the city for any contract, debt, or any other obligation to the city 
including real or personal property taxes.  City shall have the right to set off any such debt against 
compensation awarded for services under this agreement. 



 

ARTICLE VI – Notice 
All notices given under this contract shall be in writing, and shall be by personal delivery or by 
certified mail with return receipt requested to the parties at their respective addresses as specified 
in the contract documents or other address the contractor may specify in writing. 
 
ARTICLE VII - Indemnification 
To the fullest extent permitted by law, for any loss not covered by insurance under this contract; 
contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the city, its officers, employees and agents 
harmless from all suits, claims, judgments and expenses including attorney’s fees resulting or 
alleged to result, in whole or in part, from any act or omission, which is in any way connected or 
associated with this contract, by the contractor or anyone acting on the contractor’s behalf under 
this contract.  Contractor shall not be responsible to indemnify the city for losses or damages 
caused by or resulting from the city’s sole negligence. 
 
ARTICLE VIII - Entire agreement 
This contract represents the entire understanding between the city and the contractor and it 
supersedes all prior representations or agreements whether written or oral.  Neither party has 
relied on any prior representations in entering into this contract.  This contract may be altered, 
amended or modified only by written amendment signed by the city and the contractor. 
 
 
FOR CONTRACTOR     
 
By___________________________   
 
Its:___________________________   
 
Date:_________________________    
 
 
THE CITY OF OWOSSO  
 
By___________________________  By___________________________ 
  
Its: Benjamin R. Frederick, Mayor  Its: Amy K. Kirkland, City Clerk  
 
Date:       Date:  
 
 











 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
301 W.  MAIN   OWOSSO, MICHIGAN 488672958   WWW.CI .OWOSSO.MI .US 

 
 
    
 
DATE: July 30, 2015 
 
TO: City Council 
  
FROM: Donald D. Crawford, city manager 
 
SUBJECT: Sale and lease of property at southwest corner of Bradley and Curwood Castle Drive. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  
 
Consider whether to sell a 20 foot by 122 foot parcel of property to Elaine M. Greenway.  If the decision is 
to sell, the 21-day required posting would be made. 
 
 
BACKGROUND:  
 
The city of Owosso purchased Lot 3 of Block 9 of Lucy L. Comstock’s Addition containing a dwelling in 1989 
along with other properties.  The acquisition costs were paid off through rents and land contracts.  The 
remaining dwelling on this lot was demolished in 2011 at a cost of $5,300.  The lot is zoned B-1.  
 
The property has been leased on a month-to-month basis to John and Elaine Greenway in return for 
maintenance. 
 
Elaine Greenway approached the city about purchasing all or part of the property which would then become 
part of her adjacent property.  Upon examination, selling a portion or the entire lot would have an impact 
upon the 2014 parking lot proposal.  Selling 20 feet along the southern border would eliminate 11 potential 
parking spaces, which under the 2014 plan would have been grassed overflow parking.  The sale of the 
entire lot would eliminate the potential for 29 parking spaces and would make the remainder of the lot 
unbuildable by itself. 
 
The sale of 20 feet would likely never be included in a future parking lot.  Based upon the current zoning 
the city assessor places the value at $4,710.  For a parcel measuring 20 feet by 122 feet (2,440 square 
feet) the assessment is based upon $1.93 a square foot.  
 
The remainder of the lot which would likely be part of a future parking lot could continue to be leased on a 
month-to-month or even a longer term under which the leasing party would be responsible for maintaining 
the lot (mowing, snow removal from sidewalks, picking up trash, etc.) thus relieving the city of the 
responsibility.   
 
 
FISCAL IMPACTS: 
 
If the 20’ section of property is sold the city would receive $4,710 less closing costs and the property would 
be placed on the tax roll.  If both the 20’ section is sold and the remainder of the property leased, the city 
would be relieved of maintenance costs as well. 



RESOLUTION NO.  
 

AUTHORIZING 21-DAY POSTING OF 
PURCHASE AGREEMENT FOR THE SALE OF 

A PORTION OF THE CITY-OWNED PARCEL AT 415 BRADLEY STREET 
   
WHEREAS, the City owns the vacant parcel commonly known as 415 Bradley Street and described as 
follows;    
   

LOT 3, BLOCK 9 OF LUCY L. COMSTOCK’S ADDITION; and  
   
WHEREAS, the parcel is vacant and serves no named purpose at this time; and   
   
WHEREAS, the land is strategically placed and could be developed as a parking resource in the future; 
and   
   
WHEREAS, Elaine M. Greenway has approached the City offering to purchase a portion of the parcel, 
described as follows, for a reasonable price;    
   

THE SOUTH 20’ OF LOT 3, BLOCK 9 OF LUCY L. COMSTOCK’S ADDITION; and  
 
WHEREAS, the value of the land in question has been determined according to the city’s Property Sale 
Policy; and   
   
WHEREAS, the City Charter requires a 21-day posting period prior to the sale of any City-owned   
property to allow for public comment and other potential offers.   
   
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Michigan that:   
   

FIRST: the purchase agreement for the property described above be posted for a 21-day period 
to allow for citizen comment and other offers.   

   
SECOND: the proposed agreement be returned to council at the meeting of Tuesday, September 8, 

2015 for potential final disposition.    
 













RESOLUTION NO.  
 

AUTHORIZING 21-DAY POSTING FOR 
LEASE AGREEMENT FOR USE OF CITY PROPERTY 

WITH ELAINE M. GREENWAY 
   
WHEREAS, the City of Owosso, Michigan ("City") is a municipal corporation organized under the   
provisions of the Home Rule City Act, Public Act 279 of 1909, as amended, and is governed by   
the provisions of the Owosso City Charter adopted April 6, 1964, as amended ("Charter"); and   
   
WHEREAS, the City owns the vacant parcel commonly known as 415 Bradley Street and described as 
follows;    
   

LOT 3, BLOCK 9 OF LUCY L. COMSTOCK’S ADDITION; and  
   
WHEREAS, the parcel is vacant and serves no named purpose at this time; and   
   
WHEREAS, the land is strategically placed and could be developed as a parking resource in the future; 
and   
   
WHEREAS, Elaine M. Greenway has approached the City offering to purchase a portion of the parcel, 
described as follows, for a reasonable price; and 
   
WHEREAS, Elaine M. Greenway has expressed an interest in leasing the remaining portion of the parcel 
on a month to month basis in exchange for routine property maintenance; and 
 
WHEREAS, the remaining portion of the parcel is described as follows: 
 

THE NORTH 46’ OF LOT 3, BLOCK 9 OF LUCY L. COMSTOCK’S ADDITION; and  
 
WHEREAS, Charter Section14.3 (b)(2) provides for a twenty one day posting period to allow public 
inspection of the proposed lease and other potential offers.    
   
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Owosso, Shiawassee   
County, Michigan that:   
   

FIRST:   the lease agreement for the property described above be posted for a 21-day period to 
allow for citizen comment and other offers.   

   
SECOND:  the proposed agreement be returned to Council at the meeting of Tuesday, September 8, 

2015 for potential final disposition. 
 



PROPERTY USE AGREEMENT 

 

The city of Owosso will allow Elaine M. Greenway, residing at 115 Curwood Castle Drive, Owosso, 
Michigan to use and place upon the north 46’ of Lot 3 of Block 9 of Lucy L Comstock's addition to the city 
of Owosso, Shiawassee County, Michigan (commonly known as 415 Bradley Street) landscaping 
including gardens, plants and decorative structures according to the following provisions: 

1. Elaine M. Greenway shall maintain said lot including the mowing of grass, trimming of shrubbery, 
removal of debris, and snow removal from sidewalks. 

2. Elaine M. Greenway shall release and hold harmless the city of Owosso of any claims prior to this 
date.  Further, Elaine M. Greenway, tenants or visitors to her home during the period of any type 
of occupancy or trespass upon the north 46’ of Lot 3 of Block 9 of Lucy L. Comstock's addition to 
the city of Owosso, Shiawassee County, Michigan shall release and hold harmless the city of 
Owosso of any claims including any claims of adverse possession or encroachment.  

3. The city of Owosso may at any time direct that Elaine N. Greenway remove any gardens, plants 
and decorative structures placed on or under the property. 

4. The city of Owosso has the right to terminate this agreement at any time upon 30-days notice and 
to remove any items placed upon or underneath the property. 

5. This agreement is not transferable or assignable. 
 
 
 
 
Date: ________________________________  Date: ________________________________ 
 
 
_____________________________________  _____________________________________ 
Elaine Greenway     Benjamin R. Frederick 
115 Curwood Castle Drive    Mayor 
Owosso, MI  48867     City of Owosso 
 
 
     _____________________________________ 
     Amy K. Kirkland 
     City Clerk 
     City of Owosso 



BRADLEY ST.

050-120-005-006-00 050-120-005-007-00 050-120-005-009-00

050-120-009-001-00 050-120-009-003-00

050-120-006-00

050-120-009-002-00 050-120-009-004-00

050-120-009-005-00 050-120-009-006-00

0 50

Feet

AKKirkland
Typewritten Text
122'

AKKirkland
Typewritten Text
66'

AKKirkland
Line

AKKirkland
Line

AKKirkland
Line

AKKirkland
Typewritten Text
46'

AKKirkland
Typewritten Text
20'

AKKirkland
Typewritten Text

AKKirkland
Typewritten Text
Lease

AKKirkland
Typewritten Text
Buy



AKKirkland
Oval





















































































































REGULAR MEETING MINUTES  
OWOSSO DDA / MAIN STREET  
Council Chambers, City Hall  
July 1, 2015 – 7:30 am.   
 
MEETING CALLED TO ORDER at 7:37 a.m. by Dave Acton.  
 
ROLL CALL was taken by Secretary Alaina Kraus. 
  
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chairman Dave Acton & Authority Members  Ken Cushman, Benjamin 
Frederick, Kevin Wiles, Dawn Gonyou, Shar Haskins, and Secretary Alaina Kraus 
  
MEMBERS ABSENT: Authority Member Bill Gilbert & Lance Omer 
  
OTHERS PRESENT: Susan Montenegro, City of Owosso; Josh Adams, Main Street Manager; 
Helen Granger, press 
 
AGENDA: 
MOTION BY AUTHORITY MEMBER WILES SUPPORTED BY AUTHORITY MEMBER 
CUSHMAN TO APPROVE THE AGENDA FOR JULY 1, 2015. 
YEAS ALL. MOTION CARRIED. 
  
MINUTES: 
MOTION BY AUTHORITY MEMBER FREDERICK, SUPPORTED BY AUTHORITY MEMBER 
GONYOU TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FOR THE MEETING OF JUNE 3, 2015. 
YEAS ALL. MOTION CARRIED. 
  
PUBLIC / BOARD / STAFF COMMENTS: 
None 
  
COMMITTEE UPDATES 
 
1) Design 
 
Minutes provided in packet 
 
Cleaning and painting work plan has started and will continue weekly to clean up downtown. 
Eventually this may go down to a couple times a month.  
 
The waterer is out of town for the 4th, but it had been rainy enough that it shouldn't be a 
problem.  
 
Lorraine may be buying more flowers, but the budget is fine for this and it will be out of new 
fiscal year.  
 
 
2) Economic Restructuring 
 

1

AKKirkland
Draft



Minutes provided in packet 
 
ER is working on turning the Market Study into smaller information sheets. These will be given 
to the Ask Owosso team.  
 
An updated parking map is on the website and will be provided to Ask Owosso as well that 
reflects the new parking hours. New signs are coming and DPW will be striping the lots. 
 
 
3) Organization 
 
No meeting in June. Organization will be meeting next week. 
 
 
4) Promotion 
 
Minutes provided in packet 
 
Sidewalk Sales are coming in July. 
 
Art Bikes will be decorating downtown to promote biking with several bike events in August. 
 
Sandwich boards are being updated from Art Walk to Events. 
  
 
ITEMS OF BUSINESS: 
 
1. CHECK REGISTER APPROVAL. 
  
SEE BOARD PACKET FOR CHECK REGISTER 
  
MOTION BY AUTHORITY MEMBER FREDERICK, SUPPORTED BY AUTHORITY MEMBER 
WILES TO APPROVE THE CHECK REGISTER FOR JUNE 2015 AS PRESENTED. 
YEAS ALL. MOTION CARRIED. 
  
2. BUDGET REPORT  
 
Final numbers for 2014/2015 good and replacing the reserve that had to be pulled in 2013/2014.  
 
Wesner and Capital Bowl are considered nonliquid assets because are getting paid back.  
 
3. JUNIOR MAIN STREET COMMITTEE FORMATION 
 
67 teens from sophomore to senior are very interested in and passionate about downtown. The 
summer will be spent educating on the history of Main Street. Then they would become involved 
in talks on work plans.  
 
Initially Josh would lead then find a peer to lead.  

2



 
Potentially the name may be Youth Ambassadors. 
 
MOTION BY AUTHORITY MEMBER FREDERICK, SUPPORTED BY AUTHORITY MEMBER 
GONYOU TO APPROVE THE YET TO BE NAMED BODY OF. 
YEAS ALL. MOTION CARRIED. 
 
4. PROGRAM REMEDIATION UPDATE (JOSH) 
 
We are officially out of a master level Main Street.  All need to do a board and chair training 
before Accreditation.  
 
Primary things for us are to continue to maintain a good relationship with State office make sure 
we are reporting well for National. 
 
5. UPCOMING BOARD TRAINING EVENT 
 
We will be a board training event.  Potential dates are July 2730. Josh will email to this.  
 
Committee chair training in August. 
 
6. SELF-ASSESSMENT SURVEY/ACCREDITATION MEETING 
 
Josh printed off the assessment with fact based direct yes or no question answered. 
 
Acton would like to use responses for planning in the future. To make sure we're all interpreting 
the same, an overview of questions will be sent out for board members to use as a guide. This 
will also be part of the board training on July 29th. 
 
Assessments are due to be finished online on August 7th. 
 
PUBLIC / BOARD / STAFF COMMENTS: 
 
 
  
MOTION MADE BY CUSHMAN, SUPPORTED BY AUTHORITY MEMBER KRAUS TO 
ADJOURN AT 8:17 AM. 
YEAS ALL. MOTION CARRIED. 
  
  
____________________________________________________________ 
Alaina Kraus, Secretary 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3



MINUTES FOR  
REGULAR MEETING 

OWOSSO HISTORIC DISTRICT COMMISSION 
WEDNESDAY, JULY 15, 2015, 6:00 p.m.   

COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
 

MEETING CALLED TO ORDER at 6:02 p.m. by Vice-Chairman Gonyou. 
 
ROLL CALL was taken by Marty Stinson. 
 
PRESENT:   Vice-Chairman Vince Gonyou; Secretary Philip Hathaway; Commissioners 
Lance Omer, Matthew Van Epps and Gary Wilson. 
 
ABSENT: Chairman Scott Newman. 
 
OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE:  Susan Montenegro, Assistant City Manager and Director 
of Community Development; Josh Adams, Owosso Main Street Manager; Timothy Baise, 
218 N. Park Street; Dr. Tom Hall II, 122 N. Washington St.; Bob Dedic, 202 W. 
Exchange St.; Jillian Niles, 202 W. Exchange St.; Tim Rath – Argus Press. 
 
AGENDA APPROVAL:  Motion by Commissioner Hathaway and supported by 
Commissioner Wilson to approve the agenda for July 15, 2015 as presented. 
Yeas All.  Motion was passed. 
 
MINUTES APPROVAL:  Motion by Commissioner Van Epps and supported by 
Commissioner Omer to approve the minutes of the meeting for June 17, 2015. 
Yeas all.  Motion was passed. 
 
Communications: 

1. Staff Memorandum 
2. Meeting minutes of June 17, 2015  

 
Public / Commissioner Comments:  None 
 
Committee Reports: None 
 
Public Hearings: None 
 
Items of Business: 
 1) 122 N. Washington St. – Mural Application 
Dr. Tom Hall wants to add a mural on the north side of 122 N Washington and wants it to 
depict the historic downtown.  He doesn’t want to limit it to “eyes” (his profession).  Josh 
Adams, Owosso Main Street Director, looked at Section 26-18, works of art of a non-
commercial sign are not regulated.  Commissioner Hathaway hasn’t had a lot of 
experience of this type before.  Side walls have been recommended previously and this 
goes on all around the country.  Many side walls have been recommended.  This is on a 
side street.  Taste is hard thing to regulate.  There are no structural elements to regulate 
here.  The Issue is not black and white per Hathaway.  Scale is important to proportion of 

Page 1 - Draft 



wall.  There is a downtown organization that we can make contact with. 
 
Discussion continued regarding the mural painting.  This constitutes a new painting 
which historic records show as a blank wall. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Van Epps and supported by Commissioner Wilson found 
that the painting of a mural on the brick street wall at 122 N. Washington doesn’t 
meet the Secretary of Interior’s Standards is inappropriate and is denied.   
Yeas all.  Motion was passed.   
 
2.  218 N. Park St. – Façade Painting Application 
 
Mr. Baise has owned 218 N. Park Street for ten years and stated that finding out that this 
building was in the Downtown Historic District was news to him.   
 
Commissioner Hathaway commented that he has requested that the Title Office advise 
purchasers when their properties were in historic districts.  They won’t do that.   
 
Mr. Baise has gotten some building permits and wasn’t advised from the building 
department that he was in the Downtown Historic District.  Commissioner Wilson asked 
him if he owned the building when the notice from the city clerk was mailed out in 2010.  
He said yes.  From the city’s standpoint, then you were made aware per Commissioner 
Wilson.   
 
Mr. Baise stated the brick is very porous and that primer only has been used so far.  A 
mason from Detroit was consulted.  The mason specializes in historic preservation.  Per 
Hathaway, most brick is never intended to be painted.  If the brick is bad, it’s not going to 
hold paint.  National Park Service has a color standard also.  Lack of knowledge is not an 
excuse.   
 
Discussion continued about paint removal.  Commissioner Wilson will contact the State 
Historic Preservation Office and the Michigan Historic Preservation Office and see what 
their experiences are about the paint removal. 
 
Motion by Commissioner Hathaway, supported by Commissioner Van Epps to 
table this issue until they have further information.   
Yeas all.  Motion carried. 
 
3.  202 W. Exchange St. – Parge Removal Discussion 
Jillian Niles noted the cost of the project.  They want to sand it down to the paint level 
instead of using the chemical treatment.  Per Commissioner Hathaway, sanding the 
dental work would be challenging.  Per Commissioner Wilson, you wouldn’t normally 
sand with an abrasive, but if you can take it down to the surface of the brick.  If they want 
to paint, they can just paint.  Paint only is ok.  They don’t have to come before this board.   
 
Mr. Dedic commented they had awnings before on the upper two windows. 
 

Page 2 - Draft 



Motion by Commissioner Wilson and supported by Commissioner Hathaway that 
we endorse the idea of using abrasives to remove the parge down to the painted 
surface and then repaint.   
Yeas all.  Motion carried. 
 
Public Comments:  None 
 
Board Comments: 
Commission Wilson asked about Dave Action – wasn’t he planning on being here 
tonight?  Mr. Adams said he was called out of state yesterday. 
 
Commissioner Hathaway asked about a missing board member.  Mr. Adams will be 
talking to the mayor about another appointment. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:   
It was moved by Commissioner Van Epps and supported by Commissioner 
Hathaway to adjourn at 7:40 p.m. until August  18, 2015. 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Phil Hathaway, Secretary 
 
mms 
 

Page 3 - Draft 



MINUTES 
REGULAR MEETING OF THE OWOSSO ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

CITY OF OWOSSO 
JULY 21, 2015 at 9:30 AM 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

CALL TO ORDER:  The meeting was called to order by Randy Horton at 9:30 a.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Was taken by Recording Secretary Marty Stinson. 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chairman Randy Horton, Vice-Chairman Christopher Eveleth, Secretary Dan 
Jozwiak, William Wascher Planning Commission Representative, and Alternate John Horvath 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:   Commissioner Kent Telesz and Alternate Matthew Grubb 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:   Ms. Susan Montenegro, Assistant City Manager and Director of Community 
Development; Charles Rau, Owosso Building Official; Todd Stuive, Exxel Engineering, 5252 Clyde Park 
Ave., SW, Grand Rapids, MI, representative for Dollar General, 210 S. Shiawassee Street.   
 
AGENDA:  IT WAS MOVED BY VICE-CHAIRMAN EVELETH, AND SUPPORTED BY SECRETARY 
DAN JOZWIAK TO APPROVE THE AGENDA OF JULY 21, 2015 AS PRESENTED. 
YEAS:  ALL.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
MINUTES:  IT WAS MOVED BY SECRETARY DAN JOZWIAK AND SUPPORTED BY PLANNING 
COMMISSION REPRESENTATIVE WILLIAM WASCHER TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF MAY 19, 
2015 AS PRESENTED. 
YEAS: ALL.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
COMMUNICATIONS: 

1. Staff memorandum        
2. ZBA minutes from May 19, 2015      
3. Variance Request – 210 S. Shiawassee Street – Dollar General 
4. Public Notice 

 
COMMISSIONER/PUBLIC COMMENTS:  None. 
 
PUBLIC HEARINGS:    
 1.   VARIANCE – 210 S. SHIAWASSEE STREET 
 
Ms. Susan Montenegro stated that Todd Stuive, from Exxel Engineering, has already been to the 
Planning Commission to have their site plan approved for the relocation of the Dollar General Store to 
South Shiawassee Street.  The number of parking spaces required for a commercial site is based on the 
regulation from the Owosso Code of Ordinances Section 38-380, and states 36 spaces would be 
required.  Exxel Engineering is requesting a total of 30 parking spaces with their site plan.  
 
Mr. Suive explained that the proposed site plan includes a corner entrance and complies with all of the 
setbacks.  Exxel Engineering has already worked with MDOT for entries and explained the delivery point 
for the store will be located in the back.  The site plan includes 30 parking spaces, 19 located in the front 
of the store and 11 spaces in the back.  The alley is now gravel, but will be paved.  Dollar General is very 
comfortable with allowing only the 30 spaces for their store, as the existing store does not even 
accompany this number. Mr. Suive stated the site would be very difficult to squeeze any more parking 
spaces in, because they are bordered by three streets and an alley.  Underground storm water 
management is being provided for the site which is also necessary to provide the proposed 30 spaces on 
the property. 
 
Mr. Wascher inquired how many employees Dollar General has per shift. Mr. Suive stated there are 
usually three or four, and the employees would use the furthest spaces from the store. Mr. Eveleth 
referred to Zoning B-2, which states there must be special exceptions or extraordinary conditions in the 
zoning district to request the variance.  He feels that due to the proposed store being bordered by three 

 Draft 
Page 1 of 2 



streets and an alley, this qualifies as an extraordinary condition.  Mr. Eveleth felt comfortable making a 
motion to approve the variance for 210 S. Shiawassee Street. 
 
MOTION BY COMMISSIONER EVELETH, SUPPORTED BY SECRETARY JOZWIAK AFTER 
REVIEWING THE CASE FOR 210 S. SHIAWASSEE STREET,(202 S. SHIAWASSEE PARCEL 050-
660-021-001-00) (206 S. SHIAWASSEE PARCEL  050-660-021-003-00) (210 S. SHIAWASSEE 
PARCEL 050-660-021-004-00) (214 S. SHIAWASSEE PARCEL 050-660-021-005-00)(511 CLINTON 
PARCEL 050-660-021-002-00) (502 GENESEE PARCEL 050-660-021-006-00) AND (508 GENESEE 
PARCEL 050-660-021-007-00), THE OWOSSO ZBA HEREBY APPROVES THE PETITION TO PERMIT 
THE PARKING VARIANCE AS DESCRIBED IN THE ATTACHED PETITION DUE TO THE 
UNIQUENESS OF THE LOT BORDERED BY THREE PUBLIC STREETS AND AN ALLEY.  
YEAS ALL.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
BUSINESS ITEMS: ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
MOTION BY PLANNING COMMISSION REPRESENTATIVE WASCHER TO HEREBY NOMINATE THE 
CURRENT OWOSSO ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS OFFICERS FOR THE NEXT FISCAL YEAR, 
SUPPORTED BY VICE-CHAIRMAN CHRIS EVELETH:  CHAIRPERSON: RANDY HORTON; VICE-
CHAIRPERSON:  CHRIS EVELETH AND SECRETARY: DAN JOZWIAK 
YEAS ALL.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
COMMISSIONER/PUBLIC COMMENTS:   There may be a variance request for the S. Lansing Street 
parking lot at the August meeting. 
 
William Wascher will be stepping off the Owosso Zoning Board of Appeals.  This will be his last meeting, 
as he has a new position in Lansing that will not allow for daytime meetings.  ZBA currently has two 
alternates, but will need a Planning Commission Representative. ZBA would like to thank Mr. Wascher for 
his service as Planning Commission Representative. 
 
This will also be Recording Secretary Marty Stinson’s last ZBA meeting, as she will be retiring at the end 
of this week.  Thank you to Marty for her years of work and dedication to the ZBA and to the City of 
Owosso. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  
MOTION BY BOARD MEMBER EVELETH, SUPPORTED BY BOARD MEMBER WASCHER TO 
ADJOURN AT 9:48 A.M. UNTIL THE NEXT REGULARLY SCHEDULED MEETING ON TUESDAY, 
AUGUST 18, 2015, IF ANY REQUESTS ARE RECEIVED. 
YEAS: ALL.  MOTION CARRIED. 
 
      ____________________________________ 
       Dan Jozwiak, Secretary  
 
m.m.s 
 
 
 
 

 Draft 
Page 2 of 2 


	AGENDA
	APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES
	150720CouncilMinutes

	PROCLAMATIONS / SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS
	1 Proclamation - Martha Stinson
	2 Adams Park Project Update

	PUBLIC HEARINGS
	CITIZEN COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS
	CITY MANAGER REPORT
	Project Status Report

	CONSENT AGENDA
	1 FirstReading&SetPublicHearing-NumberingOfBuildingsOrdinanceAmendment
	2 FirstReading&SetPublicHearing-RezoningCorunnaAvenue
	3 MinutesCorrection-RefuseCollectionOrdinanceAmendment
	4 Boards & Commissions Appointment
	5 ADA-CompliantVotingBoothGrantAgreement

	ITEMS OF BUSINESS
	1 MMLDelegate
	2 MEDCRedevelopmentReadyCommunitiesProgram
	3 BidAward-WestownParkingLotConstruction
	6 OsburnLakesMasterDocumentsModifications

	COMMUNICATIONS
	1 MichiganLiquorControlCommissionCommunication
	2 DDAMinutes-150701
	3 HDCMinutes-150715
	4 ZBAMinutes-150721

	CITIZEN COMMENTS AND QUESTIONS
	NEXT MEETING
	BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS OPENINGS
	ADJOURNMENT




Redevelopment Ready Communities®


Best Practices


revised March 2015







2Table of Contents


Program Overview ........................................................................................................... 3


Best Practice One: Community Plans and Public Outreach


1.1—The Plans .............................................................................................................................. 4


1.2—Public Participation ............................................................................................................. 6


Best Practice Two: Zoning Regulations


2.1—Zoning Regulations ............................................................................................................. 8


Best Practice Three: Development Review Process


3.1—Development Review Policy and Procedures .................................................................. 11


3.2—Guide to Development ..................................................................................................... 14


Best Practice Four: Recruitment And Education


4.1—Recruitment and Orientation............................................................................................ 15


4.2—Education and Training ..................................................................................................... 16


Best Practice Five: Redevelopment Ready Sites®


5.1—Redevelopment Ready Sites® ........................................................................................... 17


Best Practice Six: Community Prosperity


6.1—Economic Development Strategy .................................................................................... 19


6.2—Marketing and Promotion ................................................................................................. 20


Some parts of the Best Practices have further explanation. If a word is in blue, hover 
your mouse over it and a yellow box will appear for more information. If a word is 
blue and underlined, it contains a hyperlink. 


If you still have questions, feel free to contact the RRC team at RRC@michigan.org.


Looking for more info?







3


Redevelopment Ready Communities® (RRC) is a statewide 
program that certifies Michigan communities who active-
ly engage stakeholders and plan for the future. An RRC 
certification signals to business owners, developers and 
investors that the community has removed development 
barriers by building deliberate, fair and consistent pro-
cesses. RRC looks to foster communities that creatively 
reuse space, embrace economic innovation and proactive-
ly plan for the future—making them more attractive for 
investments that create places where people want to live, 
work and play.


Through RRC, communities commit to improving their 
redevelopment readiness by agreeing to undergo a rigor-
ous assessment, and then work to achieve a set of criteria 
laid out in this document. Developed by public and private 
sector experts, the RRC best practices are the standard for 
evaluation. Each best practice addresses key elements of 
community and economic development. 


Evaluations are conducted by the RRC team through in-
terviews, observation and data analysis. After the evalu-
ation, a community is presented with a report of findings 
outlining recommended strategies for implementation on 
any missing best practice criteria. Please note: The expec-
tations listed with each evaluation criteria are what a com-
munity is measured against to determine if that criteria 


is being accomplished. A community must demonstrate 
how the expectations are being achieved, and when appli-
cable, may propose alternative approaches. To be award-
ed certification, a community must demonstrate all of the 
RRC best practice criteria have been met.


When a community becomes a certified Redevelopment 
Ready Community, it signals that it has effective develop-
ment practices such as clear development procedures, a 
community-supported vision, an open and predictable re-
view process and compelling sites for developers to locate 
their latest projects. RRC certification says to a developer 
that a community integrates transparency, predictability 
and efficiency into their daily practices. Once certified, the 
Michigan Economic Development Corporation will assist 
in the promotion and marketing of up to three Redevel-
opment Ready Sites®. These packaged sites are primed for 
new investment because they are located within a com-
munity that has effective policies, efficient processes and 
broad community support.


Some parts of the Best Practices have further explanation. 
If a word is in blue, hover your mouse over it and a yellow 
box will appear for more information. If a word is blue 
and underlined, it contains a hyperlink. 


If you still have questions, feel free to contact the RRC 
team at RRC@michigan.org.


Does your community plan for future investment?  


Welcome public input? Offer superior customer service?  


The Redevelopment Ready Communities® certification indicates that  


your community has worked hard to make reinvestment easy!







4


Best practice 1.1 evaluates community planning and how 
a community’s redevelopment vision is embedded in the 
master plan, capital improvements plan, downtown de-
velopment plan and corridor plan. Comprehensive plan-
ning documents are a community’s guiding framework for 
growth and investment. The information and strategies 
outlined in the plans are intended to serve as policy guide-
lines for local decisions about the physical, social, eco-
nomic and environmental development of the community. 


The master plan is updated, at a minimum, every five years 
to provide a community with a current and relevant de-
cision making tool. The plan sets expectations for those 


involved in development, giving the public some degree 
of certainty about their vision for the future, while assist-
ing the community achieving its stated goals. An updated 
master plan is essential to articulating the types of develop-
ment the community desires and the specific areas where 
the community will concentrate resources. Coordination 
between the master plan and redevelopment strategies, 
capital improvements plan, downtown plan and corridor 
plan is essential. It is also important that planning docu-
ments are actionable for implementation and have bench-
marks for monitoring progress. 


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The governing body has 
adopted a master plan in the 
past five years.


 The master plan reflects the community’s desired direction for the future.


 The master plan is accessible online.


The master plan identifies a 
strategy for redevelopment 
or the governing body has 
adopted a redevelopment 
plan.


 The redevelopment strategy/plan identifies priority redevelopment sites, 
neighborhoods, and/or districts.


 The redevelopment strategy/plan contains goals/actions, implementation steps 
and tools for the identified priority redevelopment sites, neighborhoods, and/or 
districts.


 The redevelopment strategy/plan includes a timeline that identifies responsible 
parties and benchmarks.


 Progress on the redevelopment strategy/plan implementation, barriers, and 
accomplishments is annually reported to the governing body.


1.1—The Plans


Best Practice One: Community Plans and Public Outreach







5Best Practice One: Community Plans and Public Outreach


1.1—The Plans continued


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The governing body 
has adopted a capital 
improvements plan.


 The capital improvements plan details a minimum of six years of projects and 
improvements and is reviewed annually.


 The capital improvements plan coordinates projects to minimize construction 
costs and impacts.


 The capital improvements plan coordinates with the master plan, redevelopment 
strategy/plan and budget.


 The capital improvements plan is accessible online. 


The governing body has 
adopted a downtown plan,  
if applicable.


 The downtown plan identifies development area boundaries.


 The downtown plan identifies projects, and includes estimated project costs and  
a timeline for completion.


 The downtown plan contains mixed-use and pedestrian oriented development 
elements.


 The downtown plan addresses transit oriented development, if applicable.


 The downtown plan coordinates with the master plan, redevelopment strategy/
plan and capital improvements plan.


 The downtown plan is accessible online.







6Best Practice One: Community Plans and Public Outreach


1.1—The Plans continued


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The governing body has 
adopted a corridor plan, 
if applicable.


  The corridor plan identifies development area boundaries.


  The corridor plan identifies projects, and includes estimated project costs 
and a timeline for completion.


 The corridor plan contains mixed-use and pedestrian oriented development 
elements.


 The corridor plan addresses transit oriented development, if applicable.


 The corridor plan coordinates with the master plan, redevelopment strategy/plan 
and capital improvements plan.


 The corridor plan is accessible online.







7


Best practice 1.2 assesses how well a community identifies 
its stakeholders and engages them, not only during the 
master planning process, but on a continual basis. A public 
participation plan is essential to formalize those efforts 
and outline how the public will be engaged throughout the 
planning and development process.


Public participation is the process by which a community 
consults with interested or affected stakeholders before 
making a decision. It is two-way communication and 
collaborative problem solving with the objective of being 


intentionally inclusive, and the goal of achieving better 
and more acceptable decisions. Public participation aims 
to prevent or minimize disputes by creating a process for 
resolving issues before they become an obstacle.


The best plans and proposals have the support of many 
stakeholders from businesses, residents, community 
groups and elected and appointed community officials. 
Public engagement should be more frequent and 
interactive than only soliciting input during the master 
plan update and public hearings.


1.2—Public Participation


Best Practice One: Community Plans and Public Outreach


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community has a  
public participation plan 
for engaging a diverse set of 
community stakeholders.


 The plan identifies key stakeholders, including those not normally at the 
visioning table.


 The plan describes public participation methods and the appropriate venue to use 
each method.


 If a third party is consulted, they adhere to the public participation plan. 


The community 
demonstrates that public 
participation efforts go 
beyond the basic methods.


Basic methods Proactive practices
 Open Meetings Act  Individual mailings
 Newspaper posting  Charrettes
 Website posting  One-on-one interviews
 Flier posting on community hall door  Canvassing
 Postcard mailings  Community workshops
 Attachments to water bills  Focus groups
 Local cable notification  Social networking
 Announcements at governing body meetings  Crowd-sourcing


 Community tracks success of various methods.


The community shares 
outcomes of public 
participation processes.


 Community participation results are communicated in a consistent and 
transparent manner.



http://www.michigan.gov/documents/ag/OMA_handbook_287134_7.pdf

http://www.michigan.gov/documents/ag/OMA_handbook_287134_7.pdf





8


This best practice evaluates a community’s zoning ordi-
nance and how well the ordinance regulates for the goals 
of the master plan.


Zoning is a key tool to implement plans in a communi-
ty. Inflexible or obsolete zoning regulations can discour-
age redevelopment and investment. Outdated regulations 


force developers to pursue rezoning or variance requests, 
disturbing project timelines, increasing costs and creating 
uncertainty. Communities should look to streamline or-
dinances and regulate for the kind of development that is 
truly desired. In addition, zoning is an essential tool for 
shaping inviting, walkable communities.


2.1—Zoning Regulations


Best Practice Two: Zoning Regulations


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The governing body has 
adopted a zoning ordinance 
that aligns with the goals of 
the current master plan.


 The community has reviewed the master plan’s zoning plan to determine if 
changes to the zoning map or ordinance text are necessary to implement master 
plan vision.


 The community has reviewed zoning district intent statements to reflect master 
plan land use recommendations.


The zoning ordinance is 
user-friendly and accessible 
online.


 The zoning ordinance portrays clear definitions and requirements.


 The zoning ordinance is available in an electronic format at no cost. Hard copies 
are available for review at convenient locations.


The zoning ordinance 
provides for areas of 
concentrated development 
in appropriate locations and 
encourages the type and 
form of development desired.


 The community allows mixed use in areas of concentrated development by right.


 The community understands form-based zoning and has reviewed their zoning 
ordinance to consider how form-based zoning might help them achieve 
community goals.


 Zoning for areas of concentrated development include the following placemaking 
elements, where appropriate:
» Build-to lines
» Open store fronts
» Outdoor dining
» Ground floor signage standards
» Public realm standards 
» Other pedestrian-friendly elements







9Best Practice Two: Zoning Regulations


2.1—Zoning Regulations continued


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The zoning ordinance 
includes flexible zoning tools 
to encourage development 
and redevelopment.


 The ordinance provides standards for flexible development and preserves sensitive 
historic and environmental features.


 Special land use and conditional zoning approval procedures and requirements 
are clearly defined.


 Industrial districts permit related non-industrial uses that serve new economy-
type businesses.


The zoning ordinance allows 
for a variety of housing 
options.


 The zoning ordinance allows for one or more of the following non-traditional 
housing types: 
» Accessory dwelling units
» Attached single-family units
» Stacked flats
» Co-housing
» Live/work
» Residential units above non-residential uses
» Mixed-income housing
» Corporate temporary housing
» Housing for those with special needs


The zoning ordinance 
includes standards to 
improve non-motorized 
transportation.


 The community understands the benefits of walkable and transit oriented 
development and has included related zoning standards where appropriate.


 The community understands the benefits of connectivity and has ordinance 
requirements that accommodate pedestrian activity within and around 
development.


 The community encourages the provision of bicycle parking through ordinance 
or guidelines.


 The ordinance provides for pedestrian lighting, traffic calming and streetscape 
elements.







10Best Practice Two: Zoning Regulations


2.1—Zoning Regulations continued


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The zoning ordinance 
includes flexible parking 
standards.


 The ordinance considers:
» Availability of on-street and public parking
» Interconnected vehicle passage between lots
» Shared parking agreements
» Parking maximums or waivers
» Electric vehicle charging stations
» Bicycle parking


The zoning ordinance 
includes standards for 
green infrastructure.


 The ordinance considers:
» Rain gardens, bioswales and other treatment techniques
» Green roofs
» Rain barrels
» Landscape regulations that encourage or require use of native, non-invasive 


species
» Pervious pavement


 The community recognizes the benefits of street trees and parking lot landscaping 
to mitigate the impacts of heat island effects.







11Best Practice Three: Development Review Process


3.1—Development Review Policy and Procedures
This best practice evaluates the community’s site plan re-
view policies and procedures, project tracking and inter-
nal/external communication. 


The purpose of the site plan review process is to assure 
plans for specific types of development comply with lo-
cal ordinances and are consistent with the master plan. 
Streamlined, well-documented site plan policies and pro-
cedures ensure a smooth and predictable experience when 
working with a community. It is essential for a communi-
ty’s site plan review team to also coordinate with permit-
ting and inspections staff. 


Unnecessary steps and layers or unclear instructions in-
crease time and expenses associated with development. 
Community leaders should look to simplify and clarify 
policies, operate in a transparent manner and increase 
efficiency to create an inviting development climate that 
is vital to attracting investment. To do this sound inter-
nal procedures need to be in place and followed. Tracking 
projects internally across multiple departments can allevi-
ate potential delays. Offering conceptual site plan review 
meetings is one more step a community can take to show 
investors they are working to remove development barri-
ers and cut down on unexpected time delays. 


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The zoning ordinance 
articulates a thorough site 
plan review process.


 The responsibilities of the governing body, staff, zoning board of appeals, planning 
commission and other reviewing bodies are clearly documented.


The community has a 
qualified intake professional.


 The community identifies a project point person and trains staff to perform intake 
responsibilities including:
» receiving and processing applications and site plans
» maintaining contact with the applicant
» facilitating meetings
» processing applications after approval
» coordinating projects with permitting and inspections staff


 Staff understands the importance of excellent customer service.


The community defines 
and offers conceptual site 
plan review meetings for 
applicants.


 The community has clearly defined expectations posted online, and an internal 
requirements checklist to be reviewed at conceptual meetings.


The community has a clearly 
documented internal staff 
review policy.


 The review process articulates clear roles, responsibilities, and timelines.


 Administrative review standards are clearly articulated.







12Best Practice Three: Development Review Process


3.1—Development Review Policy and Procedures continued


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The appropriate departments 
engage in joint site plan 
reviews.


 The joint site plan review team consists of the following representatives, 
as applicable:
» Planning department
» Department of Public Works


• traffic
• water, sewer


» Building department
» Fire
» Police
» Community manager or supervisor
» Historic District Commission
» Economic development
» Transportation department
» County
» Consultant
» Assessor


The community has a 
method to track development 
projects.


 The community demonstrates they have and use a tracking mechanism for 
development projects during the site plan review process.


 The community demonstrates they have and use a tracking mechanism for 
permitting and inspections. 


The community promptly 
acts on development 
requests.


 The community does not require governing body approval for permitted uses. 


 The community follows its documented procedures and timelines.


 The community has easy to follow flowcharts of development requests that 
include timelines.


 Community development staff coordinates with permitting and inspections staff 
to ensure a smooth and timely development process. 


The community encourages a 
developer to seek input from 
neighboring residents and 
businesses at the onset of the 
application process.


 The community assists the developer in soliciting input on a proposal before site 
plan approval as detailed in the public participation plan.







13Best Practice Three: Development Review Process


3.1—Development Review Policy and Procedures continued


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community annually 
reviews the successes and 
challenges with the site 
plan review and approval 
procedures.


 The site plan review team meets to capture lessons learned and amend the process 
accordingly.


 The community’s permitting and inspections staff meets with the development 
team to capture lessons learned and amend the process accordingly.


 The community obtains customer feedback on the site plan approval and 
permitting and inspections process and integrates changes where applicable.







14


This best practice evaluates the accessibility of a commu-
nity’s planning and development information. 


Development information and applications must be as-
sembled to help citizens, developers and public officials 


gain a better understanding of how the development pro-
cess in the community works. Documents should be up-
dated regularly and provide a general overview of devel-
opment processes and steps necessary to obtain approvals 
and should be readily available online. 


3.2 —Guide to Development


Best Practice Three: Development Review Process


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community maintains 
an online guide to 
development that explains 
policies, procedures and 
steps to obtain approvals.


 The guide includes:
» Relevant contact information
» Relevant meeting schedules
» Easy to follow step-by-step flowchart of development processes 
» Clear approval timelines for reviewing bodies
» Conceptual meeting procedures
» Relevant ordinances to review prior to site plan submission
» Site plan review requirements and application
» Rezoning request process and application
» Variance request process and application
» Special land use request process and application
» Fee schedule
» Special meeting procedures
» Financial assistance tools
» Design guidelines and related processes


• clear explanation for site plans that can be approved administratively
• permit requirements and applications
• instructions for online forms


 Community accepts credit card payment for fees


The community annually 
reviews the fee schedule.


 The fee schedule is updated to cover the community’s true cost to provide services.







15


This best practice evaluates how a community conducts 
recruitment and orientation for newly appointed or elect-
ed officials and board members.


Diversity on boards and commissions can ensure a wide 
range of perspectives are considered when making deci-


sions on development and financial incentives. Commu-
nities should seek applicants with desired skill sets and 
establish expectations prior to new officials and board 
members becoming active.


4.1—Recruitment and Orientation


Best Practice Four: Recruitment and Education


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community sets 
expectations for board and 
commission positions.


 Board and commission applications outline expectations and desired skill sets 
for open seats.


 The applications are accessible online.


The community provides 
orientation packets to all 
appointed and elected 
members of development 
related boards and 
commissions.


 The orientation packet includes all relevant planning, zoning and development 
information.







16


This best practice assesses how a community encourages 
ongoing education and training and tracks training needs 
for appointed or elected officials, board members and staff.


Planning commissioners, zoning board of appeals mem-
bers, the governing body and staff make more informed 


development decisions when they receive adequate train-
ing on land use and development issues. Turnover in offi-
cials and staff can create gaps in knowledge, which makes 
ongoing training essential to the efficient functioning of a 
community’s development processes.


4.2—Education and Training


Best Practice Four: Recruitment and Education


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community has a 
dedicated source of funding 
for training.


 The community has a training budget allocated for elected and appointed 
officials and staff.


The community identifies 
training needs and tracks 
attendance of the governing 
body, boards, commissions 
and staff.


 The community manages a simple tracking mechanism for logging individual 
training needs and attendance.


 The community identifies trainings that assist in accomplishing their stated goals 
and objectives.


The community encourages 
the governing body, boards, 
commissions and staff to 
attend trainings.


 The community consistently notifies its elected/appointed officials and staff about 
training opportunities.


The community shares 
information between the 
governing body, boards, 
commissions and staff.


 Training participants share information with those not in attendance.


 The community holds collaborative work sessions.


 The community conducts joint trainings on development topics.


 The community annually meets to review planning, zoning, economic and 
redevelopment benchmarks.







17


This best practice assesses how a community identifies, 
visions and markets their priority redevelopment sites. 
A priority redevelopment site is a site targeted by the 
community for investment. 


Identified redevelopment ready sites assist a community 
to stimulate the real estate market for obsolete, vacant 
and underutilized property. Developers look to invest in 
communities that have a vision for the community, and a 
vision for priority sites. Communities that have engaged 
the public and determined desired outcomes for priority 


sites create a predictable environment for redevelopment 
projects. A community which takes steps to reduce the 
risk of rejected development proposals will entice hesitant 
developers to spend their time and financial resources 
pursuing a project in their community. If a priority 
redevelopment project is deemed controversial, additional 
visioning sessions should be held to ensure community 
support. To encourage redevelopment, it is essential that 
communities actively package and market sites prioritized 
for redevelopment.


5.1—Redevelopment Ready Sites®


Best Practice Five: Redevelopment Ready Sites®


Evaluation criteria Expectations
The community 
identifies and prioritizes 
redevelopment sites.


 The community maintains an updated list of high priority sites to be redeveloped.


The community gathers 
preliminary background 
information for prioritized 
redevelopment sites.


 Information to consider:
» Market analysis, feasibility study or target market analysis
» Existing structure and previous uses report
» Known environmental and/or contamination conditions
» Soil conditions
» Natural features map
» GIS information including site location, street maps and utility locations


The community has 
developed a vision for the 
priority redevelopment sites.


 The vision includes desired development outcomes and specific development 
criteria.


 Community champions for the redevelopment site are identified.


 High controversy redevelopment sites may require additional public engagement.







18Best Practice Five: Redevelopment Ready Sites®


5.1—Redevelopment Ready Sites® continued


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community identifies 
available resources and 
incentives for prioritized 
redevelopment sites.


 The community determines the level of support it will give to a project, based on 
the project meeting the community’s vision and desired development outcomes.


 The community gathers financial support from other partners for projects 
including:
» Development authorities
» Chamber of commerce
» Land bank
» Private funders
» State agencies
» Others


A “Property Information 
Package” for the prioritized 
redevelopment site(s) is 
assembled.


 The “Property Information Package” includes or identifies:
» Vision statement and any specific required development criteria
» Planned public infrastructure improvements as identified in the CIP
» Property survey
» GIS information including site location and street maps
» Water, sewer, broadband and other utility locations, capacities and contact 


information
» Property tax assessment information
» Current or future zoning
» Deed restrictions
» Existing building condition report
» Previous uses
» Traffic studies
» Known environmental and/or contamination conditions
» Soil conditions and natural features map
» Current property owner
» Market analysis or feasibility study results
» Demographic data, at community and block group levels
» Surrounding amenities
» Available financial incentives


Prioritized redevelopment 
sites are actively marketed.


 The “Property Information Package(s)” are accessible online.







19


This best practice assesses what goals and actions a com-
munity has identified to assist in strengthening its overall 
economic health.


Today, economic development means more than business 
attraction and retention. While business development is a 
core value, a community needs to include community de-


velopment and talent in the overall equation for economic 
success. The goal of the economic development strategy 
is to provide initiatives and methods that will encourage 
diversity of the region’s economic base, tap into opportu-
nities for economic expansion and help to create a sustain-
able, vibrant community.


6.1—Economic Development Strategy


Best Practice Six: Community Prosperity


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community has 
an approved economic 
development strategy.


 The economic development strategy is part of the master plan, annual budget or 
a separate document.


 The economic development strategy connects to the master plan and capital 
improvements plan.


 The economic development strategy identifies the unique economic opportunities 
and challenges of the community.


 The economic development strategy contains goals/actions, implementation steps 
and tools for the identified opportunities and challenges.


 The economic development strategy identifies responsible parties and includes 
benchmarks.


 The economic development strategy coordinates with a regional economic 
development strategy, if applicable.


 The economic development strategy is accessible online.


The community annually 
reviews the economic 
development strategy.


 The community annually reports on the stated benchmarks and amends the 
strategy as needed.







20Best Practice Six: Community Prosperity


6.2—Marketing and Promotion
This best practice assesses how a community promotes 
and markets itself to create community pride and increase 
investor confidence. It also evaluates the ease of locating 
pertinent planning, zoning and economic development 
documents on the community’s website.


Community marketing and promotion can take many 
forms, but the goal is to create a positive image that re-
kindles community pride and improves consumer and in-
vestor confidence. Communities must develop a positive, 


promotional strategy through marketing campaigns, ad-
vertising and special events to encourage investment. Mar-
keting campaigns can assist with sharing the established 
community vision, values and goals. Developing a brand 
to promote a consistent identity can position a community 
for future success. A community’s website is an important 
marketing tool and must be well-designed to provide in-
formation to the public and build a positive image. 


Evaluation criteria Expectations


The community has 
developed a marketing 
strategy.


 The marketing strategy identifies marketing opportunities and specific strategies 
to attract businesses, consumers and real estate development to the community.


 The marketing strategy objectives strive to create or strengthen an image for the 
community, heighten awareness about the community, and attract and retain 
businesses.


 The community is coordinating marketing efforts with local, regional and state 
partners. 


 The marketing strategy includes specific approaches to market the community’s 
prioritized redevelopment sites.


The community has an 
updated, user-friendly 
municipal website.


 The community’s website is easy to navigate and find information.


 The community’s development information is grouped together.


 The community’s website contains or links to the following information:
» Master plan and amendments
» Capital improvements plan
» Downtown plan, if applicable
» Corridor plan, if applicable
» Zoning ordinance
» All components listed in the “guide to development”
» Online payment option, if applicable
» Board and commission applications
» “Property Information Packages” for the identified priority redevelopment site(s)
» Economic development strategy


3224-150330





		Button1: 

		Button2: 

		Button3: 

		Button4: 

		Button5: 

		Button6: 

		Master Plan: 

		Annually Reported: 

		CIP: 

		Downtown: 

		Corridor Plan1: 

		Corridor Plan 2: 

		Corridor: 

		If Applicable: 

		Key Stakeholders: 

		Public Participation Plan: 

		Open Meetings Act: 

		Zoning Ordinance: 

		Public realm standards: 

		New-economy type businesses: 

		Target Market Analysis: 

		Connectivity: 

		Ordinance Requirements: 

		Parking: 

		Other techniques: 

		Rain Gardens: 

		Standards: 

		Conceptual Site Plan Review: 

		Joint Site Plan Review: 

		ETrakit: 

		Development requests: 

		Assists the developer: 

		Guide to Development: 

		contact information: 

		Site plan review process: 

		clear approval timelines: 

		conceptual meeting: 

		Site Plan Review Requirements: 

		Rezoning Request: 

		Variance Request Process: 

		Special Land Use: 

		tools: 

		desired skill sets: 

		Orientation packet: 

		Elected and Appoined Officials and Staff: 

		Vision: 

		Report: 

		Sites: 

		Public Act 381 of 1996: 

		Amenities: 

		Branding: 







